Costa Mesa Sanitary District



Operations Code

Originally adopted by the Board of Directors by Ordinance No. 30 on the 14th day of January 1999. Last Revised: August 26, 2024

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE 1

		Page
Chapter 1.01	General Provisions	1
Chapter 1.02	General Penalty	1
Chapter 1.03	Citation Authority	1
Chapter 1.04	General Policies	3
Chapter 1.05	Claims Procedure	4
Chapter 1.06	Administrative Citations	4
Chapter 1.07	Records	12
	TITLE 2	
Chapter 2.01	Definitions	14
	TITLE 3	
Chapter 3.01	Board of Directors	19
Chapter 3.02	Officers and Employees	26
Chapter 3.03	District Facilities	28
Chapter 3.04	By-Division Electoral System	29
	TITLE 4	
Chapter 4.01	Financial Provisions	30
Chapter 4.02	District Investments	31
Chapter 4.03	Financial Policies	31
Chapter 4.04	General Purchasing	36
Chapter 4.05	Public Projects	41

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 4.06	Emergency Public Project Work	43
Chapter 4.07	Contract Formalities	43
Chapter 4.08	Payments	44
Chapter 4.09	Refunds and Dispositions of Surplus Property	44
	TITLE 5	
Chapter 5.01	Annexations	<u>45</u>
	TITLE 6	
Chapter 6.01	Sewer Construction and Permits	<u>45</u>
Chapter 6.02	Sewer and Lateral Maintenance	<u>51</u>
Chapter 6.03	Televising and Repair of Sewer Laterals	<u>52</u>
Chapter 6.04	Development & Miscellaneous Fees, Permits and Charges	<u>54</u>
Chapter 6.05	Increases in Density/Development	<u>64</u>
Chapter 6.06	Annual Sewer Charges	<u>65</u>
Chapter 6.07	FOG Control	<u>66</u>
Chapter 6.08	Legal Authority to Comply with Waste <u>Discharge Order</u>	71
Chapter 6.09	Damage to District Property	72
Chapter 6.10	Cost Recovery	<u>73</u>

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 6.11	Interference with the District's Sewer Lines, Easements, and Appurtenances Prohibited	74
	TITLE 7	
Chapter 7.01	Trash Regulations	<u>75</u>
Chapter 7.02	Annual Trash Charges	<u>78</u>
Chapter 7.03	Short-lived Climate Pollutant Reduction	<u>79</u>
	TITLE 8	
Chapter 8.01	Recycling	82
	TITLE 9	
Chapter 9.01	Sewer and Trash Charge Exemptions and Reductions	84
Chapter 9.02	Sewer and Trash Refunds	85
	TITLE 10	
Chapter 10.01	Risk Management	86
Chapter 10.03	Emergencies	87

OPERATIONS CODE

Title 1

Chapter 1.01- General Provisions

Section 1.01.010. Authority. The Costa Mesa Sanitary District was established pursuant to the authority of Health and Safety Code Section 6400 et seq. This Operations Code, and any amendments thereto, are adopted as an ordinance/general regulation pursuant to the authority provided by Health and Safety Code Section 6490. (Ord. 30, 1999)

Section 1.01.020. Ordinances. Pursuant to the authority of Health and Safety Code Sections 6521-6521 the terms "general regulation" and "ordinance" shall be synonymous. (Ord. 30, 1999)

Section 1.01.030. Effect. The intent of this ordinance is to codify in a comprehensive manner all existing District regulations that pertain to the ongoing operation of the District so that District staff and the public shall have a useful reference for the District's laws. This Operations Code does not specifically repeal any previous ordinance. (*Ord. 30, 1999*)

Chapter 1.02 - General Penalty

Section 1.02.010. Penalty. Any person, firm, or corporation violating the penal provisions of this ordinance shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and punishable by a fine of up to one-thousand dollars per day and/or up to six months in jail. (Ord. 28, 1997)

Chapter 1.03 - Citation Authority

Section 1.03.010. <u>Authority of Public Officers and Employees to Make Arrests</u>. The following designated persons shall have the power to arrest persons for misdemeanor violations of the District's General Regulations whenever the officer or employee has reasonable cause to believe that the person has committed the offense in his or her presence: Any person designated as a District Code Enforcement Officer. (Ord. 28, 1997)

Section 1.03.020. <u>Citation Procedure</u>. (a) If any person is arrested for misdemeanor violation of this title, and such person is not taken before a magistrate as is more fully set forth in the California Penal Code Section 853.6 or successor statue, the arresting officer shall prepare in triplicate a written notice to appear in court containing the name and address of such person, the offense charged, and the time and place where and when such person shall appear in court.

- (b) The time specified in the notice to appear shall not be less than ten days after such arrest.
 - (c) The place specified in the notice to appear shall be either:

- (1) Before a judge of the municipal court in the judicial district in which the offense is alleged to have been committed; or
 - (2) Before an officer authorized to receive a deposit of bail.
- (d) The officer shall deliver one copy of the notice to appear to the arrested person, and the arrested person, in order to secure release, must give his /her written promise to appear in court by signing the triplicate notice, which shall be retained by the officer. The officer may require the arrested person, if the arrested person has no satisfactory identification, to provide a fingerprint in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Penal Code. Such print shall not be used to create a data base.
- (e) The officer shall, as soon as practicable, file a duplicate notice with the magistrate specified in such notice. The defendant may, prior to the date upon which the defendant promised to appear in court, deposit with the magistrate the amount of bail set by such magistrate. Thereafter, at the time when the case is called for arraignment before the magistrate, if the defendant does not appear, either in person or by counsel, the magistrate may declare the bail forfeited and may at their discretion order that no further proceedings shall be had in such case. Upon making of such order that no further proceedings be had, sums deposited as bail shall forthwith be paid in the county treasury for distribution as provided by Section 1463 of the California Penal Code.
- (f) A warrant shall not be issued on such charge for the arrest of a person who pursuant to the provisions of this chapter has given written promise to appear in court unless and until the person has violated such promise, or has failed to deposit bail, to appear for arraignment, trial or judgment, or to comply with the terms and provisions of the judgment, as required by law.
- (g) As provided in Penal Code Section 853.7, every person willfully violating their written promise to appear in court is guilty of a misdemeanor regardless of the disposition of the charge upon which the person was originally arrested.
- (h) In accordance with Penal Code Section 853.8, when a person signs a written promise to appear at the time and place specified in the written promise to appear and has not posted bail as provided in subsection (c) of this section, the magistrate shall issue and have delivered for execution a warrant for the person's arrest within twenty days after the person's failure to appear as promised. (Ord. 28, 1997)

Section 1.03.030. <u>Custodial Arrests Not Permitted</u>. Except for citation arrests provided for in Section 1.03.020 above, District personnel shall not make custodial arrests. *(Ord. 30, 1999)*

Chapter 1.04 - General Policies

Section 1.04.010. Sexual Harassment. Sexual harassment, or other harassment defined in 1.04.020 and abusive conduct by any Director, employee, vendor, contractor, or member of the public shall not be tolerated. The Board considers harassment to be a major offense which may result in disciplinary action or dismissal of the offending employee.

An employee who feels that they are being harassed is strongly encouraged to immediately report such incident to their immediate supervisor, the immediate supervisor of the accused employee (if applicable) or to the General Manager without fear of reprisal. If a supervisor is so notified, the supervisor shall relay such information to the General Manager who will assist in the investigation and resolution of complaints. The General Manager may, in his or her discretion, assign the investigation of the alleged misconduct to an outside party such as an attorney or law firm experienced in such matters. If the General Manager is the accused harasser, the employee or supervisor should report such incident to the Board President. Thereafter, the Board President, at the next meeting of the Board, shall report the fact and nature of the allegation(s) to the entire Board. Depending on the nature of the allegation(s) and the outcome of the investigation, the Board shall take all appropriate remedial measures.

In the case of a Director harassing an employee, the General Manager should be notified, so that they can then notify the President of the Board. Thereafter, the President, at the next meeting of the Board, shall report the fact and nature of allegation(s) to the entire Board. The Board shall assign the investigation of the alleged misconduct to an outside party.

If the Director charged with harassment is the President of the Board, the General Manager shall report the fact and nature of the allegation(s) to the entire Board at its next meeting.

If appropriate a closed session may be utilized. Outside counsel may be retained to conduct the investigation.

If an allegation of harassment against a Director is investigated and found to be supported, the Board reserves the right to take such remedial action as is appropriate under all of the circumstances, including, if warranted, initiating an action for recall of such Director. The Directors agree that an accusation of harassment against any one of them must be investigated. It is further agreed that such an investigation is not an invasion of their right of privacy. (Ord. 30, 1999)

For purposes of this Section, "abusive conduct" shall be defined to mean conduct of an employer or employee in the workplace, with malice, that a reasonable person would find hostile, offensive, and unrelated to an employer's legitimate business interests.

Section 1.04.020. <u>Nondiscrimination</u>. The District shall not unlawfully discriminate against qualified employees or job applicants on the basis of sex, race, color, religious, gender, gender identity, gender expression, sexual orientation, national origin, ancestry, citizen status, marital status, age (40 and over), medical condition, genetic information, military or veteran status, physical disability, mental disability, or any other basis protected by law.

Equal opportunity shall be provided to all qualified employees and applicants in every aspect

of personnel policy and practice. The District shall not discriminate against physically or mentally disabled person who, with reasonable accommodation, can perform the essential function of the job in question.

All employees are expected to carry out their responsibilities in a manner that is free from discriminatory statements or conduct. (Ord. 30, 1999)

Section 1.04.030. Reasonable Accommodation - Americans with Disabilities Act. Pursuant to the Americans with Disabilities Act, employers have a duty to reasonably accommodate employees and job applicants with known disabilities. This accommodation is not required for individuals who are not otherwise qualified for the job nor is accommodation generally required until the person with the disability requests it. (Ord. 30, 1999)

Chapter 1.05 - Claims Procedure

Section 1.05.010. <u>Statutory Authority</u>. The provisions of this Chapter recognize that the general claims procedures applicable to local public agencies, including this District, are governed by the provisions of Chapter 1 of Division 3.6 of the Government Code of the state, commencing with Section 900 and following. (*Ord. 39, 2001*)

Section 1.05.020. <u>Special Claims Procedure for Contracts and Other Claims</u>. (a) Pursuant to the authority contained in Section 935 of the Government Code of the state, the following claims procedures are established for those claims against the District for money or damages not now governed by state or local laws.

(b) Notwithstanding the exemptions set forth in Section 905 of the Government Code of the state, all claims against the District for damages or money, when a procedure for processing such claims is not otherwise provided by state or local laws, shall be presented within the time limitations and in the manner prescribed by Sections 910 through 915.2 of the Government Code of the state. Such claims shall further be subject to the provisions of Section 945.4 of the Government Code of the state relating to the prohibition of suits in the absence of the presentation of claims and action thereon by the Board. (Ord. 39, 2001)

Section 1.05.030. Filing. All claims or demands against the District shall be filed with the District Clerk and shall be presented by the District Clerk to the Board for approval or rejection, whether in whole or in part, if such presentation is required by law. (Ord. 39, 2001)

Section 1.05.040. <u>Processing</u>. For the purposes of claims processing, the Clerk of the District is hereby designated to make determinations regarding the sufficiency and timeliness of any claim filed with the District. (Ord. 50, 2005)

Chapter 1.06 - Administrative Citations

Section 1.06.010. Applicability.

(a) This chapter subjects any violation of the provisions of this Operations Code to

Г4

administrative fines.

- (b) This chapter establishes the administrative procedures that shall govern the imposition, enforcement, collection, and administrative review of the administrative fines pursuant to Government Code Section 53069.4.
- (c) The issuance of an administrative citation under this chapter is solely at the discretion of the Enforcement Official and is one option the Costa Mesa Sanitary District has to address violations of this code. The procedures established in this chapter shall supplement and be in addition to any criminal, civil or other remedy established by law or under the provisions of this code to address violations of this Operations Code or violations of any other Costa Mesa Sanitary District ordinance. Issuance of an administrative citation shall be cumulative to and shall not limit or be deemed a waiver of, the use of any other remedy.
- (d) The purpose of issuing administrative citations pursuant to this chapter is to encourage compliance with the provisions of this code.
- (e) This chapter is intended to impose strict administrative liability on responsible parties for violations of this code.

Section 1.06.020. <u>Definitions</u>.

"Correction Condition" shall mean a code violation that pertains to a continuing plumbing, sewer, sanitary, or similar structural or zoning violation that does not create an immediate danger to health or safety.

"Enforcement Official" shall mean any officer, employee, agent, or independent contractor with authority to enforce the Operations Code of the Costa Mesa Sanitary District or any other code or ordinance adopted by the Costa Mesa Sanitary District.

"Responsible Party" shall mean any of the following:

- (1) A person who causes a code violation to occur.
- (2) A person who maintains or allows a code violation to continue by his, her or its action or failure to act.
- (3) A person whose agent, employee or independent contractor causes a code violation by its action or failure to act.
- (4) A person who is the owner of, lessee or sublessee with a current right of possession of, real property where a property-related code violation occurs.
- (5) The owner, operator or other person in charge of a business where a code violation occurs.
 - (6) A person who is the beneficiary under a deed of trust for property where a

property-related code violation exists.

"Person" shall mean a natural person, legal entity, business, corporation, trust, or other entity and shall also include the owners, majority shareholders, corporate officers, trustees and general partners of any legal entity, business, corporation, trust or other entity.

Section 1.06.030. <u>Administrative Citation Generally</u>.

- (a) Issuance. An Enforcement Official, upon making a determination that any provision of this Operations Code or any other Costa Mesa Sanitary District Ordinance has been violated, has authority to issue an administrative citation to a responsible party or parties for the violation. An Enforcement Official may issue an administrative citation for a violation that is not committed in the Enforcement Official's presence if the Enforcement Official has determined that the responsible party committed a code violation.
 - (b) Content. An administrative citation shall contain the following information:
 - (1) Name of the responsible party.
 - (2) Date of violation.
 - (3) Code section violated.
 - (4) Address or other location where the violation occurred.
 - (5) Description of the violation.
 - (6) Amount of the fine.
 - (7) Procedure to pay the fine.
 - (8) Warning that a failure to make a timely payment of the fine will result in a late payment penalty.
 - (9) Description of the procedure for requesting an administrative review to contest the administrative citation.
 - (10) Description of the procedure for requesting a waiver of the fine deposit
 - (11) Date the citation is issued.
 - (12) Signature of the Enforcement Official issuing the citation.
 - (13) A notice that unpaid fines, interest and penalties are subject to the assessment and lien collection procedures of this Chapter.
- (c) Service. An administrative citation may be served by any of the following methods:

- (1) Personal Service. An Enforcement Official may personally serve the citation on the responsible party. If reasonably available, the Enforcement Official should obtain the signature of the responsible party. The failure of the Enforcement Official to request or obtain the signature of the responsible party shall not invalidate the service of the administrative citation and shall not invalidate the administrative citation.
- (2) Mail. An Enforcement Official may mail the administrative citation by certified mail if the responsible party is not present for personal service when the Enforcement Official determines there has been a violation. The administrative citation shall be mailed to the responsible party's address as shown on the county's last equalized assessment roll for a property-related violation, or to any address known for the responsible party for all other violations. Service by mail shall be deemed to have been completed at the time of deposit in the U.S. Mail in a fully addressed envelope, postage prepaid.
- (3) Posting. An Enforcement Official may post a copy of the administrative citation on the property in a conspicuous place for a property-related violation when the responsible party resides at an unknown address. A copy of the administrative citation will also be mailed to the responsible party at the address of the property.
- (4) Other manners of service. An administrative citation may be served on the responsible party in any manner provided for service of summons.

Section 1.06.040. <u>Administrative Citation Timing</u>. Except as provided in Section 1.06.050, an administrative citation may be issued immediately and without a prior warning for any violation of this Operations Code or any other District ordinance.

Section 1.06.050. <u>Administrative Citation for Continuing Plumbing, Sewer, Sanitary, or Similar Structural or Zoning Violations that Do Not Create an Immediate Danger to Health of Safety.</u>

- (a) Applicability of this Section. This Section shall only apply to a correction condition(s).
- (b) Correction Period. A responsible party shall have thirty (30) calendar days to correct or remedy a correction condition prior to the issuance of an administrative citation. A correction period longer than thirty (30) calendar days may be granted if deemed necessary by the Enforcement Official.
- (c) Correction Notice. Upon discovery of a correction condition, the Enforcement Officer shall issue a written correction notice to the responsible party or parties. The correction notice shall refer to the code section(s) violated and describe how that code section(s) was violated. The correction notice shall also describe the action necessary to correct the violation(s) and state the final date by which the correction must be completed, which shall not be less than thirty (30) calendar days from the date the correction notice is issued. In addition, the correction notice shall include a warning that failure to correct the violation may result in the imposition of an administrative fine and shall state the amount of the fine imposed for the violation.

(d) Procedure Upon Expiration of Correction Period. If the responsible party does not remedy the correction condition within the period set forth in the correction notice, the Enforcement Official may issue an administrative citation.

Section 1.06.060. Responsible Party's Obligations.

Within fifteen (15) calendar days from the date the administrative citation is served by any of the methods of service specified in Subsection (c) of Section 1.06.030, a responsible party shall (i) pay the fine amount designated on the administrative citation; and (ii) make a written request for an administrative hearing.

Section 1.06.070. Administrative Fine.

- (a) Amount. Fines for administrative citations shall be assessed in the following amounts:
 - (1) A fine not exceeding Two Hundred Fifty Dollars (\$250.00) for a first violation, except that a first violation of District Operations Code Section 7.01.060, pertaining to the Placement of Containers, or Chapter 7.03 pertaining to the Short-lived Climate Pollutant Reduction Act, shall be subject to a fine not exceeding Seventy-Five Dollars (\$75.00).
 - (2) A fine not exceeding Five Hundred Dollars (\$500) for a second violation, except that a second violation of District Operations Code Section 7.01.060 pertaining to the Placement of Containers, or Chapter 7.03 pertaining to the Short-Lived Climate Pollutant Reduction Act shall be subject to a fine not exceeding One Hundred Fifty Dollars (\$150).
 - (3)) A fine not exceeding Nine Hundred Fifty Dollars (\$950) for a third violation, except that a third violation of District Operations Code Section 7.01.060 pertaining to the Placement of Containers, or Chapter 7.03 pertaining to Short-Lived Climate Pollutant Reduction Act, shall be subject to a fine not exceeding Three Hundred Dollars (\$300).
- (b) Continuing Violation. Each and every day during any portion of which any ordinance violation is committed, continued, maintained or permitted shall constitute a separate offense.
- (c) Payments. If the responsible party does not make a timely request for a hearing, he, she or it must pay the administrative fine directly to the Costa Mesa Sanitary District within fifteen (15) calendar days from the date the administrative citation is issued.

Payment of a fine shall not excuse or discharge the failure to correct the violation(s) nor shall it bar further enforcement action by the District.

(d) No waiver. Under no circumstances shall the payment of the administrative fine constitute a waiver of the responsible party's right to a hearing. Therefore, a responsible party may pay the administrative fine within the fifteen (15) calendar day period and also obtain a hearing to protest the imposition of the administrative fine, provided that the

responsible party makes a timely request for a hearing.

(e) Obligation to Correct Violation. Nothing in this chapter shall be interpreted to mean that because a responsible party has paid the administrative fine, he, she or it is not required to correct the ordinance violation. If the responsible party fails to correct the violation (s), subsequent administrative citations may be issued for the same violation(s). The amount of the fine for failure to correct the violation shall increase at a rate specified in this chapter. (Ord. 133, 2021)

Section 1.06.080. Administrative Hearing.

- (a) Purpose. It is the purpose and intent of the Board of Directors to afford due process of law to any person who is issued an administrative citation.
- (b) Request for Hearing. Within fifteen (15) calendar days from the date the administrative citation is served, the responsibly party must make a written request for a hearing, together with an advanced deposit of the fine. Any administrative citation fine which has been deposited shall be refunded if it is determined, after a hearing, that the person charged in the administrative citation was not responsible for the violation(s) or that there was no violation(s) as charged in the administrative citation.

(c) Hearing Officer.

- 1. The General Manager shall serve as the Hearing Officer or may appoint a person or persons who shall preside at the hearing and hear all facts and testimony presented and deemed appropriate ("Hearing Officer").
- 2. The employment, performance, evaluation, compensation and benefits of the Hearing Officer, if any, shall not be directly or indirectly conditioned upon the amount of the administrative citation fines upheld by the Hearing Officer.
- 3. Any person designated to serve as a Hearing Officer is subject to disqualification for bias, prejudice, interest, or for any other reason for which a judge may be disqualified pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure Section 170.1. The responsible party may challenge the Hearing Officer's impartiality by filing a statement with the General Manager objecting to the Hearing before the Hearing Officer and setting forth the grounds for disqualification.

(d) Administrative Hearing Procedures.

- 1. No hearing to contest an administrative citation before a Hearing Officer shall be held unless and until a request for hearing form has been completed and submitted and the fine has been deposited in advance. The fine deposit may be waived by the General Manager upon a showing of financial hardship.
- 2. The administrative citation and any additional documents submitted by the Enforcement Official shall constitute prima facie evidence of the respective facts contained in those documents and the Enforcement Official shall not be required to attend the administrative hearing but may attend the hearing in his or her discretion.

- (e) Administrative Order.
- 1. Within fifteen (15) calendar days of the conclusion of the hearing, the Hearing Officer shall provide the responsible party with a decision in writing ("administrative order"). The Hearing Officer shall provide the responsible party with the administrative order by personal service or by registered or certified mail to the responsible party's last known address.
- 2. The administrative order shall contain the Hearing Officer's findings of fact and conclusions and the procedure described in Section 1.06.090 for seeking judicial review.
- 3. A decision in favor of the responsible party shall constitute a dismissal of the administrative citation. The District shall return any monies paid by the responsible party towards the dismissed administrative citation.
 - 4. The Hearing Officer's administrative order is final.
- (f) Failure to Attend Administrative Hearing.
- 1. Waiver of Right to Hearing. The responsible party's failure to appear at a hearing shall constitute a waiver of the right to a hearing and shall be presumed an admission of guilt to the code violation(s) indicated on the administrative citation.
- (g) Good Cause. Upon a showing of good cause by the responsible party, the Hearing Officer may excuse the responsible party's failure to appear at the hearing and reschedule the hearing. Under no circumstances shall the hearing be rescheduled more than once unless the responsible party pays a deposit in the amount of the administrative fine. Nothing in this subsection shall be interpreted to mean the responsible party is excused from the requirement of paying the administrative fine or appearing at a hearing.

Section 1.06.090. Judicial Review.

If an administrative order is rendered in favor of the District, the responsible party may seek judicial review of the administrative order in the Orange County Superior Court, Harbor Justice Center, by doing one of the following:

- 1. Appeal the administrative order pursuant to California Government Code Section 53069.4 within twenty (20) calendar days after service of the administrative order. Pursuant to Section 53069.4, the appealing party shall serve a copy of the appeal notice in person or by first class mail upon the District. Appeal notices shall be sent to the District Clerk. If no appeal notice is filed within the twenty (20) calendar day period, the decision shall be deemed confirmed; or
- 2. File a petition for a writ of mandate pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure Section 1094.5 et seq. within ninety (90) calendar days after service of the administrative order.

Section 1.06.100. Failure to Comply.

(a) Event Defined. As used in this Section the term "event" shall mean any of the $\Pi 0$

following occurrences:

- 1. The responsible party fails to either pay the administrative fine or request a hearing within fifteen (15) calendar days from the date the administrative citation is served.
 - 2. The responsible party requests a hearing and fails to appear.
- 3. The responsible party fails to either comply with the administrative order or seek judicial review of the administrative order.
- (b) Penalty Fine. The occurrence of an event may result in the District increasing the administrative fine, not to exceed the maximum amounts set forth in Section 1.06.070. ("administrative fine").
- (c) Account Receivable. Upon the occurrence of an event, the District may treat the administrative fine or penalty fine, whichever is applicable, as an account receivable subject to the District's policy for delinquent accounts receivable.
- (d) Misdemeanor. An event shall constitute a misdemeanor punishable by a maximum of a One Thousand Dollar (\$1,000.00) fine or six (6) months in jail, or both.

Section 1.06.110. Collection of Unpaid Fines.

- (a) The District, at its discretion, may pursue any and all legal and equitable remedies for the collection of unpaid fines, interest and penalties. Pursuit of one remedy does not preclude the pursuit of any other remedies until the total fines, interest and penalties owed by a person under this chapter have been collected.
- (b) The District may refuse to issue, extend, or renew any permit, license, or other approval to any person who has unpaid delinquent fines, interest, penalties, liens or assessments due under this chapter related to the permit, license, or approval.
- (c) The District may suspend any permit, license, or approval issued to a person who has unpaid fines related to the permit, license, or approval totaling Five Hundred Dollars (\$500.00) or more that have been delinquent for over thirty (30) calendar days. The suspension shall become effective twenty (20) calendar days after the day notice of suspension is placed in the U.S. mail, postage prepaid, addressed to the person and shall continue until the delinquency is paid in full. Continuing to operate under a suspended permit, license or approval shall be grounds for revocation of the permit, license or approval.
- (d) Any violation of this chapter shall constitute a public nuisance. To compel compliance, the District may seek to abate the nuisance and collect the costs incurred by means of a nuisance abatement lien and/or special assessment against the property where a property-related violation occurred. Any unpaid delinquent civil fines, interest and penalties may be recovered as part of any such lien or special assessment against the property of the responsible party who is the owner of the property where the violation occurred.

- (1) To pursue an abatement of a code violation as a nuisance and recover the costs, including any delinquent civil fines, interest and penalties as an abatement lien or special assessment, the District may take the following steps:
- a. Submit to and receive from the Board of Directors a resolution certifying the amounts of the liens and special assessments sought to be collected from each property owner;
- b. Request the Orange County Recorder to record a notice of any liens, or special assessments, and send the Recorder the resolution certifying the amounts;
- c. Request the Orange County Tax Collector collect any special assessments certified by the Board of Directors; and
- d. Take any other necessary action to enforce collection of any liens, or special assessments provided for in this chapter.
- (2) The District may pursue the lien and special assessment remedies whether or not the District is pursuing any other action to terminate an ongoing code violation that was the basis for the fine.
- (3) The lien or assessment shall be imposed on the date the citation for the Code violation is issued to the responsible person and becomes effective upon the recording of a Notice of Lien or Assessment by the County Recorder. This notice shall satisfy the notice requirements when an administrative citation is personally served on the responsible party. In addition, the District shall send notice by first class mail stating the date, time and location of the meeting to each property owner listed in the proposed resolution at least ten (10) days before the Board of Directors considers the resolution and certifies the amounts of liens and special assessments.
- (4) A responsible party may contest the amount and/or validity of any lien or assessment for a civil fine at the public hearing to certify the amount of the lien or assessment by the Board of Directors. Such contests shall be limited to the issue of the amount and/or validity of the lien or assessment and may not consider whether the underlying Code violation occurred. Pursuit of such a contest by a responsible party is necessary to exhaust the administrative remedies concerning a legal challenge to the validity of any such lien or assessment.
- (e) The parent or legal guardian of a responsible party who is a minor shall be liable for any fines imposed upon the minor pursuant to the provisions of this chapter. Any such fines may be collected from the minor, parent or guardian.

Chapter 1.07 - Records

Section 1.07.010. <u>Public Records Request</u>. Access to District records is a right of the public protected under California Constitution Article 1, section 3, and Government Code Sections 7920.00 et seq. All formal requests for District records shall be date stamped and forwarded to the District Clerk so that a timely response is made. Generally, such responses must be made within ten days. District Counsel should be consulted when the records

may be subject to privacy or other considerations that might justify withholding. Records that are accessible to the public will be provided promptly to the requestor, in accordance with the California Public Records Act.

Section 1.07.020. <u>Subpoenas and Other Legal Process Requesting Documents</u>. All subpoenas and other court demands for documents shall be forwarded to the District Clerk and District Counsel upon receipt.

Section 1.07.030. <u>District Record Retention</u>. District records shall be retained and destroyed pursuant to the authority given special districts by Government Code Sections 60200 et seq. Pursuant to Government Code Section 60201, the Board shall, by resolution, set forth the categories of documents that may be destroyed or disposed of in compliance with that section. As set forth in Section 60201, the following records shall not be destroyed:

- (1) Records that relate to the formation, change of organization, or reorganization of the District.
- (2) An ordinance adopted by the District. However, an ordinance that has been repealed or is otherwise invalid or unenforceable may be destroyed or disposed of pursuant to this Section five years after it was repealed or became invalid or unenforceable.
 - (3) Minutes of any meeting of the legislative body of the District.
- (4) Records that relate to any pending claim or litigation or any settlement or other disposition of litigation within the past two years.
- (5) Records that are the subject of any pending request made pursuant to the California Public Records Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 7920.00) of Division 7 of Title 1), whether or not the District maintains that the record is exempt from disclosure, until the request has been granted or two years have elapsed since the District provided written notice to the requester that the request has been denied.
- (6) Records that relate to any pending construction that the District has not accepted or as to which a stop notice claim legally may be presented.
 - (7) Records that relate to any non-discharged debt of the District.
- (8) Records that relate to the title to real property in which the District has an interest.
- (9) Records that relate to any non-discharged contract to which the District is a party.
- (10) Records that have not fulfilled the administrative, fiscal, or legal purpose for which it was created or received.
- (11) Records that are unaccepted bids or proposals, which are less than two years old, for the construction or installation of any building, structure, or other public work.

(12) Records that specify the amount of compensation paid to District employees or officers or to independent contractors providing personal or professional services to the District or relate to expense reimbursement to District officers or employees or to the use of District paid credit cards or any travel compensation mechanism. However, a record described in this paragraph may be destroyed or disposed of pursuant to this Section seven years after the date of payment.

Section 1.07.040. Reproductions Utilizing a Trusted System. Pursuant to Government Code Section 60203, records may be reproduced on a trusted system in accordance with the Secretary of State's guidelines in accordance with the standards set forth in Government Code Section 12168.7 and California Code of Regulations Title 2, Division 5, Chapter 15 as the same may be amended. The device used to make the reproduction must be a medium that accurately reproduces the original and does not permit additions, deletions, or changes to original images. Such reproductions shall thereafter be considered originals. (Ord. 97, 2013)

Title 2

Chapter 2.01 – Definitions

Section 2.01.010. <u>Definitions.</u> Unless otherwise indicated, the following definitions shall apply to all provisions of this Operations Code:

- A. **Black Container.** "Black Container" has the same meaning as "Gray Container" and shall be used for the purpose of storage and collection of Black Container Waste. It includes all mixed waste except organic waste and prohibited container contaminants. (14 CCR section 18984.2)
- B. Black Container Waste. "Black Container Waste" means Solid Waste that is collected in a Black Container that is part of a two or three-container Organic Waste collection service that prohibits the placement of Organic Waste in the Black Container as specified in 14 CCR Sections 18984.1(a) and (b), or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 17402(a)(6.5).
- C. **CalRecycle**, "CalRecycle" means California's Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery, which is the Department designated with responsibility for developing, implementing, and enforcing SB 1383 Regulations on cities (and others).
- D. **California Code.** "California Code of Regulations" or "CCR" means the State of California Code of Regulations. CCR references in this ordinance are preceded with a number that refers to the relevant Title of the CCR (e.g., "14 CCR" refers to Title 14 of CCR).
- E. **Community Composting.** "Community Composting" means any activity that composts green material, agricultural material, food material, and vegetative food material, alone or in combination, and the total amount of feedstock and Compost onsite at any one time does not exceed 100 cubic yards and 750 square feet, as

- specified in 14 CCR Section 17855(a)(4); or, as otherwise defined by 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(8).
- F. **Compost**. "Compost" has the same meaning as in 14 CCR Section 17896.2(a)(4), which stated, as of the effective date of this ordinance, that "Compost" means the product resulting from the controlled biological decomposition of organic Solid Wastes that are Source Separated from the municipal Solid Waste stream, or which are separated at a centralized facility.
- G. **Container Contamination.** "Container Contamination" or "Contaminated Container" means a container, regardless of color, that contains Prohibited Container Contaminants, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(55).
- H. C & D- means construction and demolition debris.
- Curbside Service. "Curbside Service" shall be defined as the collection, transport, recycling, and disposal of Solid Waste from residential customers who are eligible to place such waste for collection at the curb in carts or cans (and shall specifically exclude commercial or industrial service or multi-family service which is not collected curbside or is collected in bins, roll-offs or other commercial containers). "Curbside" is further defined in Section 7.01.025 of this code.
- J. **Designee.** "Designee" means an entity that a District contracts with or otherwise arranges to carry out any of the District responsibilities of this ordinance as authorized in 14 CCR Section 18981.2. A Designee may be a government entity, a hauler, a private entity, or a combination of those entities.
- K. **Enforcement Action.** "Enforcement Action" means an action of the District to address non-compliance with this ordinance including, but not limited to, issuing administrative citations, fines, penalties, or using other remedies.
- L. **Enforcement Official.** "Enforcement Official" means the District General Manager or their authorized Designee(s) who is/are partially or wholly responsible for enforcing the ordinance.
- M. **Food Scraps.** "Food Scraps" means all food such as, but not limited to, fruits, vegetables, meat, poultry, seafood, shellfish, rice, beans, pasta, bread, cheese, and eggshells. Food Scraps excludes fats, oils, and grease when such materials are Source Separated from other Food Scraps.
- N. **Food-Soiled Paper.** "Food-Soiled Paper" is compostable paper material that has come in contact with food or liquid, such as, but not limited to, compostable paper plates, paper coffee cups, napkins, pizza boxes, and milk cartons.
- O. Food Waste. "Food Waste" means Food Scraps and Food Soiled Paper.
- P. **Franchisee.** "**Franchisee,**" for the purposes of the solid waste collection portions of this code, shall be synonymous with the "Solid Waste Hauler" and include any contractor with the exclusive solid waste contract for solid waste, as those terms

- may be defined in the Integrated Waste Management Act, Public Resources Code Section 40000 et seq. including, but not limited to, Sections 40059 and 49501.
- Q. **Green Container.** "Green Container" has the same meaning as in 14 CCR Section 18982.2(a)(29) and shall be used for the purpose of storage and collection of Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste.
- R. **Hauler Route.** "Hauler Route" means the designated itinerary or sequence of stops for each segment of the District's collection service area, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(31.5).
- S. **High Diversion Organic Waste Processing Facility.** "High Diversion Organic Waste Processing Facility" means a facility that is in compliance with the reporting requirements of 14 CCR Section 18815.5(d) and meets or exceeds an annual average Mixed Waste organic content Recovery rate of 50 percent between January 1, 2022 and December 31, 2024, and 75 percent after January 1, 2025, as calculated pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18815.5(e) for Organic Waste received from the "Mixed waste organic collection stream" as defined in 14 CCR Section 17402(a)(11.5); or, as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(33).
- T. **Inspection.** "Inspection" means a site visit where District representative reviews records, containers, and an entity's collection, handling, recycling, or landfill disposal of Organic Waste or Edible Food handling to determine if the entity is complying with requirements set forth in this ordinance, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(35).
- U. **Lateral.** "Lateral" means a "sewer lateral" and is that entire underground pipe structure including the connection between the sewer main and the structural improvements on private property and shall include both the portion on private property and the portion in the public or District right of way. (Ord. 8, 1971)
- V. **Mixed Waste Organic Collection Container.** "Mixed Waste Organic Collection Container" shall mean the Black or Gray Container. (See subsection A and 14 CCR section 18984.2.)
- W. **Non-Compostable Paper.** "Non-Compostable Paper" includes but is not limited to paper that is coated in a plastic material that will not breakdown in the composting process, or paper as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(41).
- X. **Non-Organic Recyclables** "Non-Organic Recyclables" means non-putrescible and non-hazardous recyclable wastes including but not limited to bottles, cans, metals, plastics and glass, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(43).
- Y. **Notice of Violation (NOV).** "Notice of Violation (NOV)" means a notice that a violation has occurred that includes a compliance date to avoid an action to seek penalties, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(45) or further explained in 14 CCR Section 18995.4.
- Z. **Organic Waste.** "Organic Waste" means Solid Wastes containing material originated from living organisms and their metabolic waste products, including but not limited to

- food, green material, landscape and pruning waste, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(46) as the District Board may designate by resolution. Biosolids and digestate are as defined by 14 CCR Section 18982(a).
- AA. **Organic Waste Generator.** "Organic Waste Generator" means a person or entity that is responsible for the initial creation of Organic Waste, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(48).
- BB. **Paper Products**. Paper Products include, but are not limited to paper, janitorial supplies, cartons, wrapping, packaging, file folders, hanging files, corrugated, boxes, tissue, and toweling or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(51).
- CC. "Prohibited Container Contaminants"
 - (1) **Prohibited Container Contaminants.** "Prohibited Container Contaminants" means the following: (i) discarded materials placed in the Green Container that are not identified as acceptable Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste for the District's Green Container; and, (ii) prohibited materials as defined in §7.01.070 of this Code, placed in any container.
- DD. **Recovered Organic Waste Products.** "Recovered Organic Waste Products" means products made from California, landfill-diverted Organic Waste processed in a permitted or otherwise authorized facility, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(60).
- EE. **Recovery.** "Recovery" means any activity or process described in 14 CCR Section 18983.1(b), or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(49).
- FF. **Recycling.** "Recycling" means the process by which recovered products are transformed into new products, and includes the collection, separation, recovery, and sale or reuse of metals, glass, paper products, plastics, and other materials.
- GG. **Recycled-Content Paper.** "Recycled-Content Paper" means Paper Products and Printing and Writing Paper that consists of at least 30 percent, by fiber weight, postconsumer fiber, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(61)
- HH. **Recycling Material**. "Recycling Material" means a material which would otherwise become residential industrial or commercial solid waste, which can be source separated, collected, processed, and returned to the economic mainstream in the form of raw materials or products. Permitted recycling materials are listed in Section 8.01.040.
- II. **Renewable Gas.** "Renewable Gas" means gas derived from Organic Waste that has been diverted from a California landfill and processed at an in-vessel digestion facility that is permitted or otherwise authorized by 14 CCR to recycle Organic Waste, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(62).
- JJ. **Route Review.** "Route Review" means a visual Inspection of containers along a Hauler Route for the purpose of determining Container Contamination and may

- include mechanical inspection methods such as the use of cameras, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 18982(a)(65).
- KK. **SB 1383.** "SB 1383" means Senate Bill 1383 of 2016 approved by the Governor on September 19, 2016, which added Sections 39730.5, 39730.6, 39730.7, and 39730.8 to the Health and Safety Code, and added Chapter 13.1 (commencing with Section 42652) to Part 3 of Division 30 of the Public Resources Code, establishing methane emissions reduction targets in a Statewide effort to reduce emissions of short-lived climate pollutants as amended, supplemented, superseded, and replaced from time to time.
- LL. **SB 1383 Regulations.** "SB 1383 Regulations" or "SB 1383 Regulatory" means or refers to, for the purposes of this ordinance, the Short-Lived Climate Pollutants: Organic Waste Reduction regulations developed by CalRecycle and adopted in 2020 that created 14 CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12 and amended portions of regulations of 14 CCR and 27 CCR.
- MM. **Self-Hauler.** "Self-Hauler" means a person, who hauls Solid Waste, Organic Waste or recyclable material he or she has generated to another person.
- NN. **Sewerage Facilities.** "Sewer Facilities means pipelines, plant facilities and appurtenances constructed, maintained and operated by the District primarily for the collection of sewage and the conveyance thereof to the sewage treatment plant for the treatment of the sewage. (*Ord. 30, 1999*)
- OO. Sewer Main shall also include the phrases "main sewer line" and "main sewer". A sewer main is the underground pipe structure in the public or District right of way which acts as a gathering system for one or more sewer laterals. (Ord. 8, 1971)
- PP. **Solid Waste.** "Solid Waste" has the same meaning as defined in State Public Resources Code Section 40191, which defines Solid Waste as all putrescible and nonputrescible solid, semisolid, and liquid wastes, including garbage, trash, refuse, paper, rubbish, ashes, industrial wastes, demolition and construction wastes, abandoned vehicles and parts thereof, discarded home and industrial appliances, dewatered, treated, or chemically fixed sewage sludge which is not hazardous waste, manure, vegetable or animal solid and semi-solid wastes, and other discarded solid and semisolid wastes, with the exception that Solid Waste does not include any of the following wastes:
 - (1) Hazardous waste, as defined in the State Public Resources Code Section 40141.
 - (2) Radioactive waste regulated pursuant to the State Radiation Control Law (Chapter 8 (commencing with Section 114960) of Part 9 of Division 104 of the State Health and Safety Code).
 - (3) Medical waste regulated pursuant to the State Medical Waste Management Act (Part 14 (commencing with Section 117600) of Division 104 of the State Health and Safety Code). Untreated medical waste shall not be disposed of in a Solid Waste landfill, as defined in State Public Resources Code Section

- 40195.1. Medical waste that has been treated and deemed to be Solid Waste shall be regulated pursuant to Division 30 of the State Public Resources Code.
- QQ. **Source Separated.** "Source Separated" means materials that have been separated or kept separate from the Solid Waste stream, at the point of generation, for the purpose of additional sorting or processing those materials for recycling or reuse in order to return them to the economic mainstream in the form of raw material for new, reused, or reconstituted products, which meet the quality standards necessary to be used in the marketplace, or as otherwise defined in 14 CCR Section 17402.5(b)(4). For the purposes of the ordinance, Source Separated shall include separation of materials by the generator, property owner, property owner's employee, property manager, or property manager's employee into different containers for the purpose of collection such that Source Separated materials are separated from Gray/Black Container Waste or other Solid Waste for the purposes of collection and processing.
- RR. **Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste.** "Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste" means Source Separated Organic Waste that can be placed in a Green Container that is specifically intended for the separate collection of Organic Waste by the generator, excluding Mixed Waste Organic Collection Container Organic Waste and Non-Compostable Paper.

Title 3

Chapter 3.01 - Board of Directors

Section 3.01.010. <u>Elections</u>. The District does hereby adopt the following as its candidate regulations. Candidate's statements shall be limited to 200 words or less. Each candidate shall pay their own costs of candidate statements and any translations into languages other than English. (*Ord. 30, 1999*)

Section 3.01.020. Election of Board of Directors and Selection of Officers.

- (a) Directors shall take office on the earliest date and time that the District Clerk can practically arrange it, and only after all three events have occurred:
 - 1. It is a date and time that is after noon of the first Friday in December
 - 2. The election results have been certified.
 - 3. The Director has taken the oath of office.
- (b) The Board shall select a President and Secretary from its members after the date the election results are final and those selected have taken their oaths of office. At that time a Vice-President may also be selected. A new selection shall be made after each regular election for directors by the voters of the district. (*Ord. 117, 2016*)
 - **Section 3.01.025. Board Responsibility.** It shall be the responsibility of the Board to fulfill the District's mission of providing sewage collection and trash collection and related recycling activities in an efficient, dependable and economical manner. The

Board shall perform its mission by adopting ordinances, resolutions, policies and by taking other action during its regular or special meetings, or to otherwise make recommendations on the same during the meeting of a standing committee. The Board is entrusted with the following specific duties:

- (a) Set Policy for District operation.
- (b) In coordination with the Treasurer, set an annual budget and monitor spending throughout the year.
 - (c) Set rates for service.
- (d) Ensure that the District has sufficient staff and other resources to fulfill its mission.
- (e) Have a master plan for the operation of the District including a facilities replacement schedule for facilities failure or obsolescence. (Ord. 30, 1999)

Section 3.01.030. Compensation. Pursuant to the provisions of Health and Safety Code Section 6489, compensation is set for each day's attendance at a Board meeting, or for each day's service rendered as a Director at the request of the Board, the sum of two hundred ninety five dollars per day, not to exceed a total of six days in any calendar month.

The following meetings shall be eligible for such per diem service:

- 1. Board meetings
- 2. Advisory committee meetings such as subcommittees
- 3. Approved conferences or organized educational activities
- 4. Orange County Sanitation District (OCSD) meetings
- 5. Santa Ana River Flood Protection Agency (SARFPA) meetings
- 6. Independent Special Districts of Orange County (ISDOC) meetings
- 7. Orange County Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) meetings
- 8. California Special Districts Association (CSDA) meetings
- 9. California Association of Sanitation Agencies (CASA) meetings
- 10. Orange County Council of Governments (OCCOG) meetings
- 11. Water Advisory Committee of Orange County (WACO) meetings
- 12. Costa Mesa Chamber of Commerce meetings
- 13. Educational Outreach and Presentations
- 14. City of Costa Mesa meetings
- 15. County of Orange meetings

- 16. City of Newport Beach Meetings
- 17. Mesa Water District meetings
- 18. Irvine Ranch Water District meetings
- 19. Newport Mesa Unified School District meetings
- 20. Costa Mesa Sanitary District/Mesa Water District/City of Costa Mesa/Newport Mesa Unified School District

Liaison Committee meetings

- 21. Water Discharge Regulation meetings (WDR)
- 22. Water Environment Association (WEF)
- 23. California Water Environment Association (CWEA)
- 24. Santa Ana River Basin Section (SARBS)
- 25. South Coast Metro Alliance
- 26. Solid Waste Association of North America (SWANA)
- 27. Integrated Waste Management Commission (IWMC)
- 28. Any other meetings that directly involve the District
- 29. Any other meeting that indirectly involves the District by subject matter provided that the Director requesting compensation shall describe in his compensation request how the subject matter related to the District

The Board member shall also be entitled to their reasonable expenses incident thereto. (Ord. 73, 2009; Ord. 96, 2013; Ord. 106, 2015; Ord. 107, 2015)

Section 3.01.035. Ethics Law Training. In accordance with Chapter 700 of the 2005 Statutes, Government Code section 53234 et seq., the District shall attend ethics training as mandated. Daily compensation for occurrences shall be set forth in Section 3.01.030 and reimbursement for travel expenses shall be made in accordance with Section 3.01.090 as the same may be supplemented. Expense reimbursement shall be made on District forms that show that expenses are within policy. Board members shall provide brief reports on meetings attended at public expense at the next regular Board meeting. (Ord. 55, 2006)

Section 3.01.036 <u>Sexual Harassment Prevention Training</u>. In accordance with AB 1661. District employees shall attend Sexual Harassment Prevention Training as mandated. Daily compensation for occurrence shall be set forth in Section 3.01.030 and reimbursement for travel expenses shall be made in accordance with Section,3.01.090 as the same may be supplemented. Expense reimbursement shall be made on District forms that show that expenses are within policy. Board members shall provide brief reports on meetings attended at public expense at the next regular Board meeting. (Ord. 55, 2006)

Section 3.01.040. Conflict of Interest. (a) The District has adopted the model conflict of interest code as set forth in Regulation 18700 of the Fair Political Practice

Commission and its own appendix and will review said appendix on a regular basis as required by law. The Board members and the District's officers and employees shall comply with said Code.

- (b) Board members shall also not engage in inconsistent, incompatible or inimical employment. Acceptance of an office that is incompatible with another office automatically vacates the first office held.
- (c) Board members shall not have a prohibited interest in any contract made by them in their official capacity. It is also prohibited to attempt to influence such a decision.
- (d) Board members shall not accept any discount with a transportation company because of their official status. (Reso. 95-579, 1995); (Ord. 30, 1999)

Section 3.01.050. Board Headquarters/Place of Meetings. The headquarters of the District shall be at 290 Paularino Avenue, Costa Mesa, California. The Board of Directors shall conduct its regular meetings at that location unless notice is otherwise given. (Ord.13, 1978; Ord. 53, 2005; Ord. 117, 2016)

Section 3.01.060. <u>Time of Regular Meetings</u>. The Board of Directors shall hold its regular meetings on the fourth Monday of the month at 4:30 p.m. unless notification is otherwise given. The Board shall endeavor to conduct its business on its regular meeting date and if a meeting must be rescheduled, shall endeavor to schedule any specially set meetings to a later date. Nothing herein stated is meant to preclude the District from scheduling a meeting at an earlier date and/or time, provided notice has duly been given, when the same is determined to be in the District's best interests. Any person having business before the Board showing an acceptable excuse for not being present due to changed date, time or place of a meeting may request the Board to reschedule the item for a subsequent meeting. (*Ord. 65, 2008; Ord. 129, 2019*)

Section 3.01.070. <u>Brown Act</u>. The provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act shall be observed for all Board business. (Ord. 30, 1999)

Section 3.01.073. Parliamentary Matters. The Board may only take action at a duly authorized meeting. A motion, followed by a second, shall be the usual method to bring a matter before the Board for action. Rosenberg's Rules of Order may be used as a guide but shall not be binding. (Ord. 38, 2001; Ord. 123, 2018)

Section 3.01.074. General Public Meeting Rules. (a) Any person desiring to address the Board shall only speak when recognized by the presiding officer. Persons should address their comments to the presiding officer and not to other Board members or staff. The Board and staff should likewise not engage in a dialogue with a member of the public without first securing the permission of the presiding officer. Cross-examination of the Board or staff is not allowed. If a speaker has questions, he should state those questions as part of his presentation. After he has completed his presentation the presiding officer shall determine if a response is required and who should respond. Alternatively, the presiding officer may direct that a staff person meets with the speaker at a later time to address the areas of inquiry.

- (b) A public meeting is a limited public forum and remarks must be related to the subject matter over which the District has jurisdiction. Irrelevant speech may be ruled out of order.
- (c) Time limits for speakers may be established.
- (d) All speakers and the Board must preserve order and decorum and no profanity or other disruptive behavior shall be allowed which actually disrupts, disturbs, impedes, or renders infeasible the orderly conduct of the meeting.
- (e) Pursuant to Government Code Sections 54954.3 and 54957.9, the presiding officer may remove, or cause the removal of, an individual for disruptive behavior.
- (f) Prior to removing an individual, the presiding officer shall warn the individual that their behavior is disrupting the meeting and that their failure to cease their behavior may result in their removal. The presiding officer may then remove the individual if they do not promptly cease their disruptive behavior. This paragraph does not apply to any behavior described in subparagraph (ii) of paragraph (1) of subdivision (g).
 - 1. "Disruptive behavior" is behavior during a meeting that actually disrupts, disturbs, impedes, or renders infeasible the orderly conduct of the meeting and includes, but is not limited to, one of the following:
 - i. A failure to comply with reasonable and lawful regulations adopted by a legislative body pursuant to Section 54954.3 or any other law.
 - ii. Engaging in behavior that constitutes use of force or a true threat of force.
- (g) No person shall be allowed to approach the Board dais but shall submit materials to the Board by handing those items to the District Clerk.
- (h) The presiding officer may clear the meeting for disruptions to the meeting, in accordance with the Brown Act. Additionally, Penal Code Section 403 makes it a misdemeanor to willfully disrupt a public meeting. (Ord. 74, 2009) (Ord. 95, 2012)
- **Section 3.01.075.** <u>Agenda Distribution.</u> Agenda materials shall be made available to the public in accordance with the Brown Act. The District shall normally charge for copies. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the District Clerk may make copies available without charge to public officials who might have a position with another public agency that interface with the District and its functions. (*Ord. 74, 2009*)
- **Section 3.01.076.** <u>President.</u> The President shall preside over all meetings. In his absence the Vice-President shall preside. In accordance with Health and Safety Code Section 6487, the President shall sign all contracts, deeds, releases, receipts and other documents, unless such authority has been otherwise delegated in this Code. In the President's absence, the Vice President may sign all contracts, deeds, releases, receipts and other documents. (*Ord. 30, 1999*)

Section 3.01.077. <u>Secretary</u>. The Secretary shall countersign all contracts, deeds, warrants, releases, receipts and other documents, unless this authority has been otherwise delegated in this Code. In their absence, the Vice Secretary may perform those duties. (*Ord. 30, 1999*)

Section 3.01.080. <u>Appointments.</u> That as soon as practicable after the results of a District election have been certified and the officers have taken their oaths, other appointments to various bodies shall also be made. (*Reso. 96-593, 1996*)

Section 3.01.085. <u>Vacancies</u>. Vacancies on the Board shall be filled in accordance with Health and Safety Code Section 6483 and Government Code Section 1780. (*Ord. 30, 1999*)

Section 3.01.090. Conferences. Travel and Expenses.

- (a) The Board of Directors recognizes the benefit derived from Directors attending educational seminars, conferences, programs, government hearings and functions. This section constitutes the District's policy for expense reimbursement, adopted in accordance with Government Code, § 53232.2.
- (b) Board members are authorized to attend any educational seminar, conference, program, political hearing and/or function within or without the State of California without prior Board approval and to have such expenses reimbursed, subject to the limitations provided for herein. Events must qualify as an eligible meeting pursuant to District Operations Code, § 3.01.030. The travel expenditure must have been approved as part of the budget process.
- (c) If an out of State of California educational seminar, conference, program, political hearing and/or function is not in the approved budget process, Board approval is required prior to board members incurring any travel expenditures.
- (d) The expenses allowed include, but are not limited to, meals, transportation, lodging, and registration fees, which are reasonable and substantiated by receipts, unless paid for directly by the District. Lodging shall not exceed the maximum group rate offered by the sponsor. Members shall also use group or government rates for transportation or shall use IRS rates. Automobile mileage shall be reimbursed at the current standard mileage rate established by the Internal Revenue Service. Board approval is required for any lodging within Orange County.
- (e) Board members shall present their reimbursement requests for such expenses to the Board by invoice or other suitable substantiation supported by receipts or similar proof of payment "within a reasonable time." (Gov. Code §53232.3.).
- (f) For all reasonable meals, transportation and lodging expenses, the General Manager may reimburse the Board member's expenses, after expenses are certified by

Finance Manager that said expenses are eligible for reimbursements and prior to Board approval and obtaining ratification at the next regular Board meeting. Expenses not ratified by the Board of Directors will be deducted from a subsequent payment. All expense reimbursements other than meals, transportation and lodging must be submitted for Board approval prior to reimbursement.

- (g) Expense reimbursements shall be in addition to the daily compensation that Board members may be entitled to pursuant to Health and Safety Code Section 6489 and Section 3.01.030 of this Code.
- (h) District staff and Board Members shall maintain a credit card or other account that allows for the direct payment of airline tickets, hotel rooms, registration fees and other expenses. The General Manager shall establish policies and procedures for utilization of the credit cards and/or other accounts.
- (i) Nothing stated herein is meant to be a limitation on a Board member's right to attend any event at the Board member's own expense.
- (j) Board members shall be cognizant of the Brown Act and any exceptions thereto whenever a quorum of the Board is present at the same location."

Section 3.01.092. <u>Miscellaneous Expense Reimbursement</u>. The Board of Directors recognizes that Board members will incur other expenses on behalf of the District for which reimbursement may be appropriate.

To substantiate that such reimbursement is appropriate; Directors should establish that the expenses were actual, reasonable and necessary in service to the District.

Certain expenses for supplies may be reimbursed by substantiating that the item or a portion of the item was used for District business. Such items include, but are not limited to, toners, cartridges, paper and related material involved in electronic processing of information by facsimile, copier, email, computer and other technological devices.

To be eligible for reimbursement, a District- provided form should be used, which substantiates the purchase and documents the use or a portion of the use for District business. Receipts proving the purchase of such items must be attached to the form. (Ord. 58, 2007) (Ord. 114, 2016)

Section 3.01.100. <u>Interaction with Staff</u>. Requests for information may be made by individual Board members and will be responded to unless the General Manager determines that it would involve an inordinate amount of time, in which case he may ask that the item be placed on the agenda for full Board action. Copies of materials prepared or provided electronically for one Director shall be provided to all Board Members, if requested. Board members should only direct staff to take action when done as part of

Board action during a meeting. (Policy Statement 11/14/1991) (Ord. 90, 2012)

Section 3.01.110. Procedure for Placing an Item on the Agenda. (a) Any Board member may request that an item be placed on the Board of Directors regular meeting and/or study session agenda by requesting the item be placed on a subsequent agenda during the Oral Communications and Director Comments section of an open public meeting. The nature of the item must be within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Costa Mesa Sanitary District. A majority of the Board may approve or deny the request for the matters to be placed on a subsequent agenda during the meeting.

- (b) Any member of the public may request that an item be placed on an agenda. The individual can make this request during the Public Comment section of any Board meeting, and the item must be within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Costa Mesa Sanitary District. The request can also be made by completing the Request to Agendize an Item form along with pertinent back-up documentation. The complete package will be forwarded to the General Manager or designee to discuss with the Board of Directors President for a determination for inclusion on the agenda. The public does not have the right to demand that an item be placed on the agenda; the control of the agenda is a matter determined by the Board.
- (c) Public request for placing an item on the agenda must be submitted by 12:00 noon, nine working days prior to the first Monday of the month. An additional amount of time may be required if staff is expected to make an appropriate recommendation.
- (d) Once a determination has been made for inclusion on the agenda, the General Manager or designee will prepare a staff report based on the documentation received. The staff report will be forwarded to the Board of Directors for discussion at the predetermined date of the Board meeting. (Ord. 90, 2012; Ord. 98, 2013; Ord. 101, 2014)

Chapter 3.02 - Officers and Employees

Section 3.02.010. <u>General Manager</u>. The Board may appoint a General Manager to plan, manage, and operate the District and to report to the Board. The General Manager's duties shall also include acting as the Personnel Officer, whereby he will hire and fire, develop classification plans, adopt organization charts, and perform other duties related to personnel matters. Said duties may be more fully set forth in the District's job description for said position and in any employment contract with said person which shall be kept with the District's official records. (*Reso. 92-523, 1992*) (*Ord. 91, 2012*)

Section 3.02.020. <u>District Engineer.</u> The General Manager may appoint an engineer to design various projects for the District and to render engineering advice to the General Manager. The District Engineer is authorized to approve designs as to reasonableness of public improvements for which Board approval is not required. Such discretionary authority is hereby delegated to the District Engineer for the purpose of the design immunity defense provided in Government Code 830.6 or successor statue. The approval of design extends to "as builts" which are accepted. (*Reso. 92-524, 1992*) (*Ord. 48, 2005*)

Section 3.02.030. <u>District Counsel</u>. The Board may appoint a general counsel to provide it with legal advice and render other legal services. The duties to be provided shall be set forth in said Attorney's retainer agreement. (*Ord. 30, 1999*)

Section 3.02.040. <u>Treasurer.</u> Pursuant to Health and Safety Code Section 6001, the District shall appoint a treasurer to be responsible for the safekeeping, investment and deposit of District monies. A surety bond shall be fixed by the Board and maintained at all times. The Board has determined that a master bond may be used that meets the requirements of Government Code Section 1481. (*Reso. 85-438, 1985*)

Section 3.02.050. <u>Employees.</u> The Personnel Rules of the District shall be adopted by separate resolution of the District. The Personnel Rules shall set forth the terms and conditions of the employment relationship. The only persons who are "employees" of the District are those persons who are paid through payroll. (Ord. 70, 2008)

Section 3.02.055. Employment Subject to Criminal History Report.

After the District makes a conditional offer of employment, the District may then request information about criminal convictions, except for misdemeanor marijuana-related convictions that are over two years old, or convictions that have been judicially sealed, eradicated, or expunged. (Labor Code §§ 432.7-432.8.)

- (a) Unless required by law, the District will not deny employment to any applicant solely because he or she has been convicted of a crime. The District may, however, consider the nature, date and circumstances of the offense, evidence of rehabilitation, as well as whether the offense is relevant to the duties of the position.
- (b) The District is hereby authorized to access state and federal level summary criminal history information for employment (including volunteers and contract employees), licensing, or certification purposes and may not disseminate the information to a private entity.
- (c) A person shall be prima facie disqualified for District employment if the person has been convicted of a felony or of a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude. As used herein, the term conviction includes pleas of guilty and nolo contendere. The General Manager, as personnel officer, is specifically authorized to obtain criminal history information as provided in Section 11105 and 13300 of the Penal Code of the State of California. Applications shall be required to submit their fingerprints and to cooperate so that the General Manager can obtain said information.
- (d) An applicant who is thus prima facie disqualified for employment may take an appeal in writing to the General Manager. The General Manager shall consider the mitigating factors such as, but not limited to, evidence of rehabilitation, length of time elapsed since such

conviction, the age of the person at the time of the conviction, contributing social or environmental conditions, the nature and seriousness of the conduct, the circumstances surrounding the conduct, the position for which the person is applying and whether the conviction is unrelated to the position. The General Manager shall render a decision based on the above factors which shall be final and conclusive.

(e) The General Manager shall report to each appointee the fact of the appointee's suitability for District service. In the event the General Manager determines that the character and background of an appointee makes the appointee unsuitable for District service, the General Manager shall take appropriate action. (Ord. 70, 2008)

Section 3.02.060. Personnel Rules and Administrative Policies. The Board has adopted the Personnel Rules and the District Employee Handbook incorporating those rules. The General Manager is authorized to make minor revisions to that Handbook and issue Administrative Policies further clarifying those rules provided that no significant increases or decreases in compensation are made thereby. The General Manager shall also be authorized to make changes when required by the law. (Ord. 30, 1999; Ord. 54, 2005; Ord. 91, 2012; Ord 114, 2016)

Section 3.02.070. Staff Expenses.

No officer or staff person shall incur any expense for reimbursement for travel, conferences, meetings, seminars or related matters that occur within the State of California, Nevada and/or Arizona without prior General Manager approval. No staff person shall travel to any other state, other than Nevada and/or Arizona, for conferences, meetings, seminars or related matters, without prior Board approval. The Board may approve recurring or ongoing expenses."

Section 3. Should any part, clause or section of this Ordinance be declared by any Court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the remaining provisions of this Ordinance shall nevertheless be and remain in full force and effect and the Board of Directors of the Costa Mesa Sanitary District of Orange County, California, hereby declares that each and every section, clause, provision or part of this Ordinance would have been adopted and made a part of this Ordinance without the adoption of any portion thereof and that the invalidity of any part or provision hereof shall not in any way affect the validity or enforcement of the remaining provisions of this Ordinance that may stand on their own.

<u>Section 4.</u> Pursuant to Health and Safety Code Sections 6490 and 6491.3, the Clerk shall cause this ordinance or a summary thereof to be published in a newspaper of general circulation printed and published in the District according to law.

Chapter 3.03 - District Facilities

Section 3.03.010. Hours of Operation of District Facilities. The General Manager shall have the authority to set the hours for operation for District facilities, including $\frac{1}{128}$

yard and headquarters. The General Manager shall be specifically authorized to adjust the hours of operation for holiday, seasonal and special events. The General Manager shall provide reasonable notice to the Board of Directors, other officers and staff of the District, and the public.

Section 3.03.020. Restricted Access Areas. The public portion of the District headquarters shall be clearly delineated for public interaction with District officers, employees and agents at such times as are appropriate for such interaction. Other areas may be marked as restricted access areas. The District Yard is also a restricted area as are areas within District's pump stations and other facilities when fenced or otherwise enclosed. It is unlawful to enter such restricted areas unless authorized by District personnel for a District purpose. Signs shall be erected indicating that the areas are restricted access areas. (Ord. 125, 2019)

Chapter 3.04 – By-Division Electoral System

Section 3.04.010. <u>Divisions.</u> Pursuant to Elections Code §10650, the Board of Directors adopted this by-division electoral systems after receiving a challenge that its atlarge system caused minority vote dilution in violation of the California Voting Rights Act. This by-division system was enacted after following the procedure set forth in Elections Code §10650. This Chapter establishes five divisions in the Operations Code. To be elected as a representative from a division, the candidate must reside and be a registered voter from that division. To be entitled to have nomination papers issued, the candidate must reside in the division and be a registered voter in the division. The map that establishes the districts shall be adopted by resolution implementing this Chapter.

Section 3.04.020. Sequencing and Scheduling of Elections. (a) The adoption of the by-division election system did not take effect in time for the Elections Official to process an election before the 2020 election. Those directors who terms of office expired in 2020 continued to serve on an "at-large" basis until their successor was qualified on a "by-division" basis. In 2020, new divisions were effective and a director whose term expired may run for election in one of those divisions if he or she qualified by residence and being a registered voter within the division. Until 2022 those directors previously elected on an "at-large" basis whose term of office had not expired continued to serve until his or her term expired, and their successor is qualified on a "by-division" basis. In 2022, those directors whose term expired in that year will be eligible to run for those divisions if qualified by residence and by being a registered voter within the division. Thereafter all elections shall be by-division for four-year terms. The Board has now adopted a new map after the 2022 Decennial Census and will do so every ten years, as the law requires.

(b) The divisions shall be described in the map which will be an exhibit to a resolution. Members of the Board of Directors shall be elected from Divisions 2 and 4 in November 2020 and every four years thereafter. Members shall be elected from Divisions 1, 2, and 5 in November 2022 and every four years thereafter. The divisions shall be adjusted as required by law and new maps will be adopted when so required by resolution.

Section 3.04.030. <u>Vacancy created by moving out of division</u>. Upon being elected by-division, any director who thereafter terminates residency within the division, shall cause a vacancy in the office.

Section 3.04.040. <u>Establishment of Divisions</u>. Members of the District shall be elected on a by-division basis from the divisions described in the map adopted by implementing resolution, as the same may be supplemented by the Board of Directors or District Clerk, as provided below.

Section 3.04.050. <u>Implementation.</u> A map showing the divisions described in the ordinance codified in this Chapter is set forth as Exhibit A to the current resolution. To the extent there is conflict between the map and other descriptions of the division boundaries, the map shall prevail. The District Clerk is authorized to make technical adjustments to the boundaries that do not substantively affect the populations of the divisions, the eligibility of the candidates or the residence of elected officials within the divisions. The General Manager and District Counsel shall be consulted concerning those adjustments and the Board shall be made aware of any such adjustments.

Section 3.04.060. Adjustments based on future census. Future adjustments to the boundaries shall be made in accordance with federal and state law applicable, including any adjustments required by each decennial federal census. The map implementing new division boundaries may be attached and incorporated into a resolution adopting the map which shall be kept on file in the District Clerk's office. That map shall be the current map until superseded by a new resolution and map.

Title 4

Chapter 4.01 - Financial Provisions

Section 4.01.010. <u>Administration of Funds</u>. Pursuant to the authority of Health and Safety Code Section 6801, the Board has determined to administer its own funds and has done so by Resolution 85-438. The District's General Manager shall be responsible for managing District enterprise and capital funds. The treasurer shall be authorized to open and maintain accounts in institutional depositories qualifying pursuant to Government Code Sections 53530 through 53683 to administer said funds. (*Ord. 30, 1999*) *All transactions made by treasurer must be made available to the General Manager.*

Section 4.01.020. <u>Treasurer</u>. The Board shall appoint a treasurer who shall post a fidelity bond in an amount as determined by the Board. The clerk shall ensure that said bond remains on file and is in effect at all times. Said bond may be a master bond. (*Reso. 85-438, 1985*)

Section 4.01.030. <u>Warrants</u>. In accordance with Health and Safety Code 6794, all warrants shall be approved by a resolution which sets forth the name of the payee, the fund from which paid, and the general purpose of the payment. *(Ord. 30, 1999)*

Section 4.01.040. <u>Signatures</u>. The signature of the Treasurer and President shall both be required on any instrument withdrawing funds from District accounts. An electronic signature may be used for such purpose. *(Ord. 30, 1999)*

[30

Section 4.01.050. <u>Assessment Changes</u>. The General Manager or their designee shall have the authority to make changes, corrections and cancellations on the tax roll with respect to special assessments. (Reso. 97-603, 1997)

Section 4.01.060. <u>Basic Penalty and Interest Provisions Adopted</u>. There is imposed on all charges that remain due and unpaid a basic penalty in the amount of ten percent of the amount owed, and in addition there shall be a penalty of one and one-half percent per month on the amount of the charges and basic penalty that shall also be imposed on the persons who owe the money. (Ord. 104, 2015)

Chapter 4.02 - District Investments

Section 4.02.010. <u>District Investment Policy</u>. Pursuant to the provisions of Government Code Section 53630 <u>et seq</u>. the Board shall adopt an Investment Policy Statement that shall be consistent with State law and the Board's wishes. Said investment policy shall be reviewed annually and approved at an annual meeting in accordance with Government Code Section 53646. The Board shall review the District's investments on at least a quarterly basis. (Ord. 30, 1999) (Ord. 88, 2012)

Chapter 4.03 - Financial Policies

Section 4.03.010. Summary. A Summary of the District's Financial Policies includes the following principles:

- (a) Operating Reserves: The District will maintain a minimum designated Reserve for Working Capital equal to 30% of its operating budget within its Solid Waste Fund and 25% of its operating budget within its Wastewater Fund. (Ord. 108, 2015)
- (b) Fairness and Equity: All customers of the District will pay their fair, equitable, and proportionate cost of the services provided by the District.
- (c) Recurring Revenue Growth: Recurring expenditure increases should not be approved which exceed recurring revenue growth. Any new or expanded programs will be required to identify new funding sources and/or off-setting reductions in expenditures.
- (d) Risk Management/Retention: The District will maintain appropriate reserves for general liability claims and other programs or self-insured risk retention levels to meet statutory requirements and actuarially projected needs.
- (e) Long Range Fiscal Perspective (Capital Expenditure Policy): The District will maintain a long-range fiscal perspective through the use of an Annual Operating Budget, Long-Range Capital Improvement Program, and multi-year revenue and expenditure forecasting.
- (f) Capital Improvements: Major capital improvement projects will be funded using the most financially prudent method available. Such methods include: 1) Traditional

long-term financing (bond issues); 2) "Pay As You Go" financing (using recurring revenues only); 3) Combination of debt financing and "Pay As You Go" financing; and 4) Using accumulated cash revenues in excess of policy requirements.

- (g) Generally Accepted Accounting Principles: District staff shall comply with all generally accepted accounting principles promulgated by the state and federal government, regulatory agencies such as the Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and relevant professional associations such as the Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA). (Ord. 34, 2000)
- (h) The General Manger shall have the authority to transfer up to fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000) from savings, from account to account or between personnel, maintenance and operations and capital outlay unless otherwise prohibited by law. Funds shall not be transferred between the solid and liquid waste funds. Transfers over fifty thousand dollars must be approved by the Board of Directors. (Ord. 82, 2011)
- (i) Capital Assets: Any single item purchased by the District with a cost greater than or equal to \$5,000 and an estimated useful life of greater than five years is capitalized and depreciated. Depreciation is charged to operations using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful life of the asset. (Ord. 131, 20gg)
- **Section 4.03.020.** <u>Operating Reserves</u>. This policy establishes a minimum level of Reserves for Working Capital within Operating Funds of the District. Operating Funds of the District consist of the Solid Waste Fund and the Liquid Waste Fund.
- (a) Policy: The District will maintain a minimum designated Reserve for Working Capital equal to 30% of its operating budget within its Solid Waste Fund, and 25% of its operating budget within its Wastewater Fund.
- (b) Operating Reserves Required: The Reserves for Working Capital for Operating Funds will be maintained at a level equal to 30% of its operating budget within its Solid Waste Fund, and 25% of its operating budget within its Wastewater Fund, for the fiscal year. The District has a period of negative cash flow for the first five months of the fiscal year until such time as the annual charges have been collected and remitted to the District. This level of operating reserve provides the District with the necessary liquidity and resources to cover this period of negative cash flow as well as unanticipated expenses. It is prudent for governmental entities to maintain operating reserves which constitutes a sound operating practice as determined by oversight bodies, professional organizations, bond rating agencies and bond insurance companies. The operating reserve may only be accessed under the following circumstances, and only with Board approval.
 - 1. Federal/State budget cuts resulting in loss of grant funding.
 - 2. Local revenue shortfalls due to downturn in the local economy;
 - 3. Increase in demand for specific services without another source of recovery;
 - 4. Legislative or judicial mandates to provide new or expanded services or programs without new or fully off-setting revenues;

- 5. One-time Board approved expenditures;
- 6. Unexpected increases in inflation (Consumer Price Index); and,
- 7. Natural disasters (earthquakes, fires, or other general infrastructure failures).

If the operating reserves are required to be used, staff will incorporate a plan to restore the Reserves for Working Capital to 30% of the Solid Waste operating budget and 25% of the Liquid Waste operating budget as part of the subsequent year's proposed budgets. (Ord. 34, 2000; Ord. 71, 2008; Ord. 108, 2015)

Section 4.03.030. Fairness and Equity. This policy establishes District policy with regard to the calculation of rates and charges to District customers. It is the intention of this policy to ensure that all classes of users are equitably charged for the services rendered.

(a) Policy: All customers of the District will pay their fair and proportionate cost of the services provided by the District. (Ord. 34, 2000)

Section 4.03.040. Recurring Revenue Growth. This policy sets forth that recurring revenue growth (inflation) will be used to pay for recurring expenditures.

- (a) Policy: Recurring expenditure increases should not be approved which exceed recurring revenue growth. Any new or expanded programs will be required to identify new funding sources and/or offsetting reductions in expenditures.
- (b) Matching Revenue to Expenditures: Recurring revenue growth may not always increase at a rate equal to or faster than the recurring expenditures it supports. As a result, the District will avoid using such growth as start-up revenue for new projects or programs that have ongoing costs. Increases in service levels should be supported by new or increased revenue sources or reallocation of existing resources. If normal revenue inflation and/or growth does not keep up with expenditures inflation, the District will decrease expenditures or seek new revenue sources. If long-term revenues grow at a rate faster than expenditures inflation, the Board can consider expanding service levels accordingly or reducing rates, fees, charges, etc. (Ord. 34, 2000)

Section 4.03.050. Risk Management/Retention. The District will maintain adequate levels of reserves for self-insured risk retention levels.

- (a) Policy: The District will maintain appropriate reserves for general liability claims and other programs or self-insured risk retention levels to meet statutory requirements and actuarially projected needs.
- (b) Risk Management/Liability Reserves: General liability insurance reserves are maintained in a sufficient manner to fund the District's recorded liabilities for lawsuits and other claims arising out of the ordinary course of business. These reserves should also be maintained in such a manner to fund estimated losses for claims and judgments, levels of self-insurance or other retained risks. Losses for claims incurred but not reported may be

pre-funded in the reserves or may be funded when the probable amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Such reserves will also meet all applicable statutory requirements. The minimum level of the reserves will be determined on an annual basis. If the reserves drop below levels prescribed by this policy and cannot be readily replenished, staff will bring the matter to the Board's attention. In discussing the inadequacy of the reserves with the Board, staff will make every effort to give the Board viable options in choosing the best course of corrective action. (Ord. 34, 2000)

Section 4.03.060. Long Range Fiscal Perspective (Capital Expenditure Policy). A long-range fiscal perspective will be maintained to provide a more comprehensive overview of the District's needs.

- Policy: The District will maintain a long-range fiscal perspective through the use of an Annual Operating Budget, Long Range Capital Improvement Program, and multiyear revenue and expenditure forecasting. The General Manager shall develop and annually update a long-range projection of capital expenditures. The first year of the projection will be incorporated into the annual budget of non-operating funds. The Board of Directors will consider projects based on necessity and availability of financing and establish project priorities based upon staff recommendations. The Capital Expenditure Program shall be reviewed and updated annually. It is recognized that with time, certain factors will change and influence specific projects requiring acceleration, deferment, termination or adjustment in the scope of a project. The annual update will provide a review to consider such changes. Prior to commencement of any design or construction work on any project covered in the Capital Improvement Program, the project shall be submitted to the Board of Directors for authorization to proceed.
- Long-Range Planning: A long-range financial perspective is essential to provide a more comprehensive and thorough overview of the District's long-term financial needs. Components of this action plan include the use of an Annual Operating Budget and multi-year revenue and expenditure projections. This approach will be supported by staff's use of historical data and comparative data as appropriate. In addition, a Long-Range Capital Improvement Program will be maintained and annually updated to help the Board better understand the potential long-term funding sources and cost impacts on the District's operating budget. (Ord. 34, 2000)

Section 4.03.070. <u>Capital Improvements.</u> The District will develop appropriate funding mechanisms for capital improvements.

- Policy: Major capital improvement projects will be funded using the most financially prudent method available. Such methods include: 1) Traditional long-term financing (bond issues); 2) "Pay As You Go" financing (using recurring revenues only); 3) Combination of debt financing and "Pay As You Go" financing; and, 4) Using accumulated cash reserves in excess of policy requirements.
- Capital Improvement Funding: The traditional method to obtain funds for major capital improvement projects has been to issue long-term debt instruments such as bonds, Certificates of Participation (CoPs), etc., which mature 15 to 30 years from the date of issuance. In general, a bond issue's maturity should approximate the useful life of the asset being financed. Long-term capital improvement financing needs should be financed, as much

as possible, with long-term debt (bonds). Short-term capital improvement financing needs should be financed with short-term debt (short-term lease purchase, revenue anticipation notes, etc.). However, it is also acceptable to use cash which has been accumulated in excess of policy requirements to pay for either long-term and/or short-term capital improvements. The actual use of accumulated cash for such projects will be determined by the District Board on a case-by-case basis.

- (c) Asset Management Fund: The Asset Management Fund was specifically established to fund capital improvement projects and emergency work. The Board has approved a minimum level of Reserves in the Asset Management Fund of \$5 million. Each year, the budget will include a contribution from the Wastewater Fund to the Asset Management Fund for capital improvement projects. The budget may also include a transfer back to the Wastewater Fund to finance current year capital improvement projects or emergency work. All transfers between Funds require Board approval either through the budget adoption process or by direct board action. If a transfer-out reduces the Asset Management Fund balance below the minimum funding level of \$5 million, the Finance Manager shall outline a plan to restore the Fund back to the minimum funding level of \$5 million and present it to the Board for consideration.
- (d) Practice: It is the District's practice to use whatever financing mechanism(s) that best meets the goals and objectives of the applicable capital improvement project(s). Specifically, the following general rules will be used in determining what to finance and how:
 - 1. Capital improvement projects of less than \$100,000 should be financed out of operating revenues (or accumulated cash). Such projects may be included in the Long-Range Capital Improvement Program (CIP).
 - 2. Capital improvement projects in excess of \$100,000, or inter-related projects in excess of \$100,000, will be made a part of the Long-Range CIP, and all such projects should be grouped to allow effective use of financing mechanisms or other funding sources.
 - 3. On-going expenses related to Capital Improvement Program projects (e.g. maintenance and staffing costs) must be identified and the source of ongoing revenues to support those costs must be identified. Debt financing will not be used to support on-going operating costs.
 - 4. Prior to commencement of any design or construction work on any project covered in the Capital Improvement Program, the project shall be submitted to the Board of Directors for authorization to proceed. (Ord. 34, 2000; Ord. 119, 2016)

Section 4.03.080. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. The District will comply with all generally accepted accounting principles promulgated by the state and federal government, regulatory agencies, and relevant professional associations.

(a) Policy: District staff shall comply with all generally accepted accounting

principles promulgated by the state and federal government, regulatory agencies such as the Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and relevant professional associations such as the Government Finance Officers' Association (GFOA).

(b) Standard: All books and records shall be maintained in accordance with such standards promulgated by the aforementioned agencies. Financial statements shall be prepared and presented to the Board on a periodic basis as determined by the Board and in such a format so as to conform to professional reporting standards and in sufficient detail to provide the Board with information necessary for management decision-making purposes. In full compliance with California Government Code Section 53646, the District Treasurer, will prepare a formal set of Investment Policies for Board of Directors adoption. This is to be done on an annual basis. (Ord. 34, 2000)

Section 4.03.090. <u>Capital Assets.</u> Capital assets purchased by the District are capitalized at cost. Date reflected in the District's capital asset records include estimates of original cost as determined by knowledgeable District personnel. Contributed capital assets, consisting primarily of donated subsurface wastewater lines dedicated to the District by contractors or other governmental agencies are recorded as contributed capital assets, which increases the net position of the District. Such contributed capital assets are recorded at their acquisition value as of the date received.

(a) Policy: Any single item purchased by the District with a cost greater than or equal to \$5,000 and an estimated useful life of greater than five years is capitalized and depreciated. Depreciation is charged to operations using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful life of the asset. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings20-50 yearsImprovements20 yearsSubsurface Wastewater Lines60 yearsEquipment5-20 yearsVehicles10-12 yearsOther5-20 years

Chapter 4.04- General Purchasing

4.04.10 Purpose/Application. The purpose of this chapter is to provide authority and guidance for general purchasing. This chapter is not meant to apply to public projects, as defined in Chapter 4.05.

Section 4.04.020. Definitions.

(a) Unless otherwise indicated, the following definitions shall apply to all provisions of this chapter:

(i) "Best value" means the best value to the District based on all factors that may include, but not limited to the following:

A. Cost;

- B. The ability, capacity, and skill of a contractor to perform a contract or provide the supplies, services, or equipment required;
- C. The ability of a contractor to provide the supplies, services, or equipment promptly, or within the time specified, without delay or interferences;
- D. The character, integrity, reputation, judgment, experience, and efficiency of a contractor;
- E. The quality of a contractor's performance on previous purchases/services with the District; and
- F. The ability of a contractor to provide future maintenance, repairs, parts, and services for the use of the goods and services purchased.
- (ii) "Emergency" for purposes of this chapter means an urgent situation which makes competitive bidding, either formal or informal, impractical, or not in the best interests of the District.
- (iii) "Professional services" means all services performed by persons in a professional occupation, including, but not limited to, consulting and performance services for accounting, auditing, computer hardware and software support, engineering, architectural, planning, financial, legal, management, environmental, communication and other similar professional functions which may be necessary for the operation of the District.

Section 4.04.030. Purchasing Officer. The purchasing officer shall be the general manager or other person designated by resolution of the Board of Directors. The duties of the purchasing officer may be combined with those of any other officer(s) or position(s).

Section 4.04.040. Purchasing Officer - Powers and Duties.

The purchasing officer, in accordance with the policies set forth in this chapter and in any written procedures approved by the general manager consistent with this chapter, shall have the power to:

a) Purchase or contract for supplies, services and equipment required by the District.

- b) Negotiate and recommend to the Board of Directors execution of contracts for the purchase of supplies, services, and equipment.
- c) Prepare and implement policies and procedures governing the bidding, contracting, purchasing, storing, distribution and disposal of supplies, services, and equipment for the District.
- d) Prescribe and maintain such forms as may be reasonably necessary to the implementation of this chapter and any other policies and procedures approved by the general manager consistent with this chapter.
- e) Sell any supplies and equipment not needed for public use or that may become unsuitable for their intended use.
- f) Develop and maintain any bidder's list, contractor's list, or vendor's catalog file necessary to the operation of this chapter and any other policies and procedures approved by the general manager consistent with this chapter.

Section 4.04.050. <u>Purchasing Policies and Procedures</u>.

- (a) The District shall secure supplies, public projects, and equipment at the lowest cost commensurate with the quality and scope needed, and subject to any limitations imposed by state law.
- (b) The District shall secure professional and maintenance services based on Best Value, as defined, and subject to any limitations imposed by state law.
- (c) In purchasing, supplies, services, and equipment, the District shall generally make use of a competitive bidding method based on dollar value and type of services, materials, or equipment being procured, and as required by law, this chapter, or any policies and procedures approved by the general manager consistent with this chapter.
- (d) In other instances, as specified in this Chapter, competitive bidding will not be required.

Section 4.04.060. <u>Bidding. Purchasing and Contracting.</u>

- (a) Purchase Order Requests:
 - i. \$1 to \$4,999.99: Any purchase for one dollar (\$1) to four thousand nine hundred ninety-nine dollars and ninety-nine cents (\$4,999.99) does not require a purchase order. A purchase order is optional if requested by staff or vendors. A purchase order may be issued by the Finance Department if prior notification of the purchase and the amount was provided.

- ii. \$5,000 to \$14,999.99: Any purchase for five thousand dollars (\$5,000) to fourteen thousand nine hundred ninety-nine dollars and ninety-nine cents (\$14,999.99) shall require a purchase order. All pertinent documentation regarding the purchase/project costs such as quotes, estimates, current and complete W-9 form from the vendor, etc., must be submitted to the Finance Department. Signatures from managers and vendors are required on purchase orders.
- iii. \$15,000 or more: follow policy Section 4.04.060(c).
- (b) Less than \$15,000: Any purchase less than \$15,000 may be awarded by the Purchasing Officer or persons formally designated by the General Manager responsible for the project by any bidding procedure or procurement method, that serves the best interest of the District. A purchase order may be used as the contract.
- (c) \$15,000 to less than \$60,000: Any purchase for fifteen thousand (\$15,000) to less than sixty thousand dollars (\$60,000) may be awarded by the Purchasing Officer via the direct bidding method, pursuant to Section 4.04.060.
- (d) \$60,000 to less than \$125,000: Any purchase for sixty thousand dollars (\$60,000), but less than one hundred twenty-five thousand dollars (\$125,000) may be awarded by the Purchasing Officer. Informal bidding procedures may be used, pursuant to the bidding procedure set forth in Section 4.04.070.
- (e) \$125,000 or more: Any purchase of one hundred twenty-five thousand dollars (\$125,000), or more, shall be awarded by the Board of Directors pursuant to the formal bidding procedure set forth in Section 4.04.080.
- (f) Purchasing Officer Approval: The purchasing officer, or other person designated by the Board of Directors, shall review, and approve all contracts or purchases less than \$125,000.
- (g) Five-Year Term Limitation: No agreement or contract shall extend for a period of more than five (5) years, including any authorized extensions. Exempted from the foregoing limitation shall be the trash and recycling contracts and the professional services contracts for those persons serving as District Officers including General Manager, District Counsel, and District Treasurer. Also exempted from the bidding limitations shall be firms providing highly specialized or technical services that the Board or General Manager have determined require familiarity and/or continuity due to specialized knowledge of the system, specialized expertise not obtainable by utilizing the bidding process, or other unique factors that would make bidding meaningless. Nothing herein is meant to prevent new agreements with the same contracting party after a new competitive bid process is undertaken.

(h) Trash and Recycling Contracts: Agreement shall be ten years with the option of extending the contract for an additional two (2) five-year options upon mutual agreement of the parties. (Ord. 135, 2022)

Section 4.04.070. <u>Direct Bidding Procedure.</u>

- (a) Direct bidding procedures shall be used for purchases of goods and equipment between \$15,000 and less than \$60,000. Professional Services and other service contracts may be evaluated, selected, and awarded using the Best Value method.
- (b) If practical, at least three (3) vendors or contractors shall be contacted to provide informal quotes.
- (c) Quotes received will be documented on the District "Quote Sheet".
- (d) District's Authority: The District may reject any or all bids received and may waive any minor irregularities in each bid received.

4.04.080. Informal Bidding Procedure.

- (a) For purchases of goods, equipment and services that cost \$60,000 or more but less than \$125,000, informal bidding may be used. This procedure requires a document, similar to a bid specification, so that competitive bids can be received. The bidding documents shall be provided to prospective bidders and an outreach process shall be utilized that promotes competitive bids. Sufficient time, usually 10 days, shall be provided bidders to submit bids or proposals. At least three bids shall be sought, unless impractical.
- (b) Professional and other service contracts may be obtained using the Best Value method.
- (c) Bids or proposals shall be in writing. A record shall be maintained of how the bidder was chosen.
- **4.04.090.** Formal Bidding. For the purchase of goods, equipment, or services of \$125,00 or more, the formal bidding procedure shall be used. This includes more detailed bidding specifications, if appropriate, and more extensive outreach. Any method designed to obtain competitive bids shall be used, and a sealed bid procedure shall be used which utilizes at least 14 days for bid submittal. Criteria for ranking bidders shall be used and formalized scoring of the bids shall be required. A record of the bid process shall be maintained. Professional and other service contracts may be awarded using the Best Value method.

4.04.100. Exceptions and Alternative Bidding Procedures. In certain circumstances, the above rules need not be followed:

a) Emergencies. In an emergency, bidding may be dispensed with, and purchases will be made in the best interest of the district, which shall be documented.

[40

- b) Competitive bidding is already completed. When another government agency has already engaged in a competitive bid that would make District bidding unnecessary, the District may rely on the other government agency's bid process when applicable to the District's needs This includes, but is not limited to, the U.S or State Government Services Agency.
- c) No bids received. The District may contract with a party when no bids are received by using any process that promotes the best interest of the District.
- d) No competitive market. When the general manager determines that a competitive market does not exist, such as when conventions and hotels are limited to professional organizations, or make competitive choice impractical, the District may contract with any party using any process that promotes the best interest of the District. A record of the process engaged in shall be kept.
- e) Best interests of the District. In any other circumstance in which the best interest of the District shall be served by not engaging in the bidding process, a record shall be kept of the reasons and the Board shall be advised.

Section 4.04.110. Change Orders. The general manager shall have the authority to approve change orders up to the cumulative amount of ten percent of the original contract or fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000), whichever is greater. The Board of Directors shall have the authority to approve any change order exceeding that amount. (Ord. 92, 2012)

Chapter 4.5- Public Projects

4.05.010 Purpose and applicability. This Chapter sets forth State law requirements for public projects bidding and award of contracts. This Chapter incorporates the authority and the procedures of Public Contact Code Section 22030 et seq.

4.05.020 Definitions.

- (a) "Commission" means the California Uniform Construction Cost Accounting Commission, as set forth in Public Contract Code Section 22010 or successor statute.
- (b) "Public project" is defined in Public Contract Code Section 22002 to include construction, reconstruction, erection, alteration, renovation, improvement, demolition, and repair work involving and publicly owned, leased, or operated facility. Painting and repainting are also generally included".
- **4.05.030** <u>Uniform Cost Accounting System Adopted</u>. The District has adopted the uniform cost accounting procedure set forth in Public Contract Code Section 22010 and has notified the Controller of that election by resolution. The District may utilize the Alternative Procedures set forth in Public Contract Code Section 22030 et seq., or when contracting for any work that is not a "public project."

- **4.05.040** <u>Alternative Procedure Adopted</u>. The Alternative Procedures for Public Projects set forth in Public Contract Code 22030 et seq. is adopted.
- **4.05.050** <u>Bidding Limits</u>. Pursuant to Public Contract Code §22032 the State has authorized certain bidding limits if authorized. The Board of the District has determined to allow those limits but has further restricted the bidding limits as follows:
 - a) Public projects of less than \$60,000 may be performed by employees of the District by force account, by negotiated contract or by purchase order.
 - b) Public projects of \$60, 000 to \$125,000, or less may be let by contract using the informal procedures set forth in this Chapter.
 - c) Public projects of \$125,000 or more shall be bid using the formal process.
- **4.05.060 Bid Splitting.** It shall be unlawful to split projects into separate projects to avoid the competitive bidding requirements set forth herein. Bold the title
- **4.05.070** <u>Informal Bidding</u>. The Ordinance adopting this Chapter is the District's ordinance setting forth the informal bidding procedures required by Section 22034.
 - a) The District shall maintain a list of qualified contractors, identified by categories of work. Criteria shall be determined by the Commission.
 - b) All contractors on the list and all trade journals shall be mailed notices inviting informal bids.
 - c) All mailing of notices shall be completed no less than 10 days before bids are due.
 - d) The notice shall describe the project generally and how to obtain more detailed information about the project and state the time and place for submitting bids.
- **4.05.080** <u>Commission Determination of Trade Journals</u>. The Commission shall determine on a county-to-county basis, which trade journals shall receive notice.
- **4.05.090** Notice Inviting Formal Bids. Notice inviting formal bids shall state the time and place for receiving sealed bids and shall distinctly describe the project. The notice shall be published at least 14 calendar days before the opening date in a newspaper of general circulation, printed and published in the jurisdiction of the District, or if there is none, as

provided in Public Contract Code Section 220.37. The notice shall also be mailed to all trade journals at least 30 days before the bid opening.

- **4.05.100** Plans, Specifications, and working Details. The governing body shall adopt plans, specifications and working details for all public projects over \$125,000 (§22032)
- **4.05.110** Change Orders. The general manager shall have the authority to approve change 142

orders up to the cumulative amount of ten percent of the original contract or fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000), whichever is greater. The Board of Directors shall have the authority to approve any change order exceeding that amount. (Ord. 92. 2012)

Chapter 4.06 Emergency Public Project Work

4.06.010 Purpose/Authority. The Purpose of this chapter is to set forth the procedures and law that must be followed when performing emergency work regarding a public project.

4.06.020 **Authority**.

- a) When a governing body must take emergency action to repair or replace a public facility, it must do so after a resolution is passed by a 4/5 vote of the governing body.
- b) Before the Board can take such action to repair or replace such a public facility, it must make a finding, supported by substantial evidence set forth in the minutes of the meeting, that the emergency will not permit a delay resulting from a competitive bid process and that the action is necessary to respond to the emergency.
- c) The Board has delegated, by a 4/5 vote, the authority to the General Manager to take emergency action, subject to the provisions of Public Contract Code Section 22050.
- d) The General Manager shall report to the governing body at its next meeting, that reasons justifying why the emergency will not permit a delay resulting from the competitive process, and why the action is necessary to respond to the emergency.,
- e) The governing body shall review the emergency action at its next regularly scheduled meeting and at every regularly scheduled meeting thereafter, until the action is terminated, and shall determine by a 4/5 vote the need to continue.
- f) If the General Manager orders the action, it shall be reviewed by the governing body within 7 days, unless a regularly scheduled meeting will not occur for 14 days, and at every regularly scheduled meeting thereafter. The governing shall determine if the emergency work should continue by a 4/5 vote.
- **4.06.030** No Plans Required. Pursuant to Public Contract Code Section 22035, no plans, specifications or working details are necessary for emergency work.

Chapter 4.07 Contract Formalities

Section 4.07.010. <u>Debarment</u>. The District shall not do business with any person, firm, corporation, or any other entity convicted of any felony. (*Reso. 94-541, 1994*)

Section 4.07.020. <u>Signature.</u> In accordance with the Health and Safety Code Section 6487, all contracts must generally be signed by the President and countersigned by the Secretary. Purchases orders and contracts for purchases of goods or services or public works below One Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars (\$125,000) may be signed by the General Manager or person formally authorized by the Board by resolution to sign on behalf of the District. Purchase orders and contracts \$5,000 or less may be signed by

the General Manager or person designated to sign by the General Manager.

Chapter 4.08 - Payments

Section 4.08.010. Purpose. This Chapter enacts procedures for the payment of claims consistent with Government Code Section 53910 et seq.

Section 4.08.020. Payments Conforming to Budget. The District Board of Directors delegates to the General Manager the approval of all warrants, including payroll after warrants drawn in payment demands are certified by District Finance Manager as conforming with the adequate appropriations that have been previously approved and adopted by the Board. Budgeted demands paid by warrant prior to audit by the Board of Directors, excluding payroll, shall be presented to the Board of Directors for ratification and approval at the next regular Board meeting after delivery of warrants.

The payroll warrants will be aggregated and submitted in total to the District Board of Directors at the next regular Board meeting.

Section 4.08.030. <u>Audit Procedure</u>. The Board of Directors shall audit and ratify all payments on their warrant register each month or at such other intervals as it shall determine. (Ord. 47, 2004)

Chapter 4.09 – Refunds and Dispositions of Surplus Property

Section 4.09.010. Refunds. This General Manager shall have the authority to authorize refunds of payments made to the District when the amount is Five Thousand Dollars or less, provided all other legal requirements have been met. Such authority shall include, but not be limited to, sewer and trash refunds.

Section 4.09.020. <u>Disposition of Surplus Property.</u>

- (a) At such times as the General Manager or designee shall determine, an inventory shall be prepared of supplies and equipment that are no longer used or which have become obsolete or worn out. Such property may be used as a trade-in for other supplies or equipment or may be disposed of by auction house or other method that ensures the best interests of the District.
- (b) To prevent conflict of interest issues, employees and officers of the District shall not participate in such purchases unless approved in writing by the General Manager.
- (c) The Board shall approve of any disposition of property reasonably valued in excess of Five Thousand Dollars. The General Manager shall have authority to approve of dispositions of property reasonably valued at Five Thousand Dollars or less. (Ord. 124, 2019)

TITLE 5

Chapter 5.01 - Annexations

Section 5.01.010. Policy. It is the policy of the District that no property may be served for sewer or trash unless the same has been annexed to the District and all appropriate fees paid for such annexation. (Ord. 20, 1989)

Section 5.01.020. Exceptions. In accordance with Government Code Section 56133 or successor statute (if applicable), and if the Orange County Local Agency Formation Commission (OC LAFCO) first approves of such service within the District's sphere of influence, the Board may determine, in extraordinary circumstances, that a property may be served by a service agreement. Such an agreement should not be entered into unless the Board has determined that it is in the best interests of the inhabitants of the District. (See Trimont v. Truckee Sanitary District (1983) 193 Cal. Rptr. 568) (Ord. 20, 1989; Ord. 30, 1999)

Section 5.01.030. Procedure. The following is the typical procedure for processing an application to annex to the District:

- (a) Applications by the legal owner of the property initiates the process. The General Manager or District Engineer shall thereafter coordinate the process.
- (b) The General Manager or District Engineer assigns an annexation number and the applicant shall deposit a check covering District and other agency fees.
- (c) The General Manager or District Engineer shall prepare a map and legal description and forwards the map and legal description to the County of Orange Surveyor's Office for approval and then to the District Counsel to prepare the resolutions required.
- (d) The General Manager or District Engineer shall determine if the appropriate environmental review has occurred.
- (e) District warrants shall be prepared for processing through OC LAFCO, the State Board of Equalization and the County of Orange.
- (f) The District staff shall develop a detailed procedure that describes this process in greater detail and maintain that procedure for use of staff and the public. (Ord. 30, 1999)

TITLE 6

Chapter 6.01 - Sewer Construction and Permits

Section 6.01.010. <u>Sewer Main Construction</u>. All sewer mains shall be installed in accordance with the Standard Plans and Specifications for the Construction of Sanitary Sewers, as the same may be amended from time to time. *(Ord. 30, 1999)*

Section 6.01.015. <u>Plumbing Code Adopted</u>. The California Plumbing Code, latest edition, as may be adopted by the State of California, as set forth in Title 24 of the California Administrative Code and Appendix L, is hereby adopted by reference as the Plumbing Code for the District and shall apply to sewer system plumbing in the District to the extent not otherwise provided for in the District's Operations Code. Violations of the Plumbing Code shall be punishable as a misdemeanor as provided in Section 1.02.010 of the Operations Code. (*Ord. 80, 2010*)

Section 6.01.020. <u>Sewer Lateral Construction</u>. All sewer laterals connected to a District sewer main shall meet the requirements of the District's Sewer Lateral Specifications, as the same may be amended from time to time. (*Policy Statement* 7/8/1982)

Section 6.01.030. <u>Sewer Lateral Extension</u>. When the local agency determines to acquire additional right of way to widen any street or to perform any similar project, the local agency shall also cause the construction design to include the extension of the existing sewer laterals with respect to meeting District approved size, material and slope from the prior property line to the new property line. After District has inspected, approved and accepted the extensions, the District will reimburse the local agency for the cost of these extensions. The District retains the right to extend said laterals in its discretion. (*Policy Statement* 12/4/1974)

Section 6.01.040. <u>Sewer Laterals for Common Developments</u>. Condominiums, townhomes, cooperatives and other land uses in which there is a right to ownership of some part of their living units but common ownership of other land and appurtenances, may have private sewage collection systems that may connect to the Districts sewer main and/or sewerage system under the following conditions:

- (a) Providing there is some form of a common governing body capable of obligating itself to the District for repair, maintenance and upkeep;
 - (b) Providing that there is an independent lateral from each living unit to the central gathering system;
 - (c) Providing a minimum four (4) inch lateral or size as approved by the District Engineer serves each living unit.
 - (d) Providing that the entire system that is located, on private property including but not necessarily limited to, laterals, central gathering system, clean-outs, and other portions of the system, comply with the applicable California Building Code(s) of the jurisdiction in which the project is constructed;
- (e) Providing the governing body agrees to comply with District Operations Code with respect to maintenance;
- (f) Providing that the covenants, conditions and restrictions to be recorded on the project contain provisions providing for individual laterals, a central gathering system,

compliance with District Operations Code and such other requirements as the District may establish from time to time, said conditions, covenants and restrictions to be approved by the District Counsel:

(g) Such other conditions as the Board may uniformly impose from time to time.

The District may, at its option, accept the central gathering system as District lines assuming the obligation of maintenance, repair and upkeep, provided right-of-way for said central gathering system is dedicated to the District and said central gathering system is constructed in accordance with standard specifications of the District and is inspected and approved by District Engineer. (Policy Statement 2/11/1982)

Section 6.01.045. <u>Multiple Single-Family Dwellings on a Single Lateral Prohibited</u>. Multiple single-family dwellings shall not be connected to a single sewer lateral, but shall each have their own lateral unless one of the following criteria is met:

- (a) When those dwellings are part of a common interest development which has conditions, covenants and restrictions (CC&Rs) establishing a homeowner's association and where such CC&Rs impose the burden of maintaining the lateral on the association and such CC&Rs also meet the approval of the District.
- (b) For preexisting single-family homes connected to a single sewer lateral before the District enacted its laws requiring a separate lateral to serve each single-family residence, provided those residences do not undergo a major enlargement or remodel and provided no sewer spills have occurred from said residence(s) and that the owners comply, with the District's televised sewer lateral program, as described in Chapter 6.03.
- (c) For preexisting single-family homes connected to a single sewer lateral before the District enacted its laws requiring a single sewer lateral, that undergoes a major enlargement or remodel, the District may require the remodel provide a new lateral sewer to the public sewer system'
- (d) For purposes of this section, a "major enlargement or remodel" shall occur when:
 - i. the costs of said remodel exceeds \$100,000, or
 - ii. completely removes a majority of the interior, or
 - iii. adds 40% or more increase in floor space, or
 - iv. adds a second dwelling unit to said property.

An additional Dwelling Unit smaller than 1,200 square feet, or other special development cases, may be exempted from the major enlargement or remodel requirement by the District Engineer if justified by engineering data showing lesser sewer impacts.

(e) Other than as provided above, no person shall connect, permit, maintain or cause to be connected or maintained, more than one single-family dwelling on a single sewer lateral.

Each person connecting, maintaining or permitting a single-family dwelling to be connected in violation of this section shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and punishable as provided in Chapter 1.02 of this code. (Ord. 61, 2007)

Section 6.01.050. <u>Major Private Sewer Works on Private Property</u>. The following preconditions shall apply before a connection is made to District facilities of a major private sewer works located on private property:

- (a) Sewer plans shall have been approved by the District Engineer;
- (b) At the option of the developer of said sewer project, the project may be inspected in its various stages of construction by the District Engineer;
- (c) Deposits with the District shall have been made of a sum of money established by the District Engineer against which the District may draw to cover said sewer plan approval and inspection;
- (d) Provide to both the District and the City of Costa Mesa, the County of Orange, or the City of Newport Beach as the case may be, a registered civil engineer's certification that said private sewer project construed on private property and connected to District facilities was constructed in accordance with District's standards.
- (e) Developer shall submit evidence from the City of Costa Mesa, County of Orange, or the City of Newport Beach, as the case may be, that District public works standards are acceptable for the sewer design in lieu of the Uniform Plumbing Code. (Reso. 94-550, 1994)

Section 6.01.060. <u>Sewer Lateral Specifications</u>. The following shall be the District's sewer lateral specifications:

- (a) <u>Material of pipe</u> Any sewer line between the property line and sewer main shall be made of vitrified clay pipe (VCP), SOR 26 polyvinyl chloride (PVC) pipe or of such other materials that may meet the approval of the Costa Mesa Sanitary District.
- (b) <u>Placement</u> All sewer laterals shall be placed at such a depth that the top of the pipe is five (5) feet below the top of the curb. Where there is no curb or established grade, the top of the lateral must be at least five (5) feet below the ground surface.

Every building and structure situated within the boundaries of the Costa Mesa Sanitary District shall have separate and independent sewer connections. In instances where more than one building or structure is situated upon the same lot and owned by the same person, firm or corporation, a permit may be granted by the Sanitary District to allow joint use of a connecting sewer line.

(c) <u>Grade</u> - All sewer grades must be at least one-quarter of an inch to the foot sloping towards the outlet and all sections must be laid in perfect line on bottoms and sides. Anything less than a 2% fall is subject to approval by the District Engineer

T48

Cross cuts deep enough to receive the socket of the pipe shall be cut in bottom of the trench so that the pipe will not rest on the socket but have a bearing the full length of the pipe.

- (d) <u>Size of pipe</u> All sewer laterals in the right-of-way shall be six inches in diameter. All native soil must be removed and backfilled as required by the District Engineer.
- (e) <u>Alignment</u> All changes in the direction of sewer lines shall be made by the use of wyes (Y's) and one-eighth bends. Where pipes of different materials but of the same diameter are to be jointed, connection shall be made so that the flow line of the two pipes or fittings are to be level.
- (f) Openings All wyes (Y's) and tee openings in sewers, which are not used for connections shall be closed by approved plugs.
- (g) <u>Clean-outs</u> At least two (2) clean-outs, one double, two-way clean-out located near the property line and a second single clean-out near the structure, must be provided behind the property line. The top of the clean-out must not be less than six (6) inches below the grade with cap and surface cover. All clean-outs shall be made with the use of a wye (Y) and shall run in the direction indicated by the District standards or as directed by the District Engineer.
- (h) <u>Inspection</u> The Costa Mesa Sanitary District shall provide for the inspection and approval of the construction of all street connections and house sewers to be built within the District. (*Policy Statement 7/8/1982*)

Section 6.01.070. <u>Acceptance and Inspection of Sewer Lines</u>. No dedication will be accepted and no tie into District facilities will be allowed where the District Engineer has not approved plans and drawings and has not inspected the project during its course of construction. (*Policy Statement 12/6/1967*)

Section 6.01.080. Acceptance of Right of Way Easements. The following conditions must be met before the District accepts any right of way for underground sewer installation:

- (a) Parties offering the right-of-way easements shall tender said right-of-way easements on forms approved by District Engineer and supplied by the District:
- (b) Said right-of-way easement documents are accompanied by a preliminary title report showing the party offering the right-of-way easement to be the fee owner thereof:
- (c) Said right-of-way easement documents shall be accompanied by such maps or plats as may be required by the District Engineer; and
- (d) No right-of-way documents will be offered to the District Board for acceptance and recording until the District Engineer has approved the legal description and until the District Counsel has approved the authority of the party signing the right-of-way easement documents to convey right-of-way easement title to the District; and

- (e) Permits for construction within the right-of-way easement will not be issued until the Board has accepted the right-of-way easement documents in recordable form as provided for herein; and
- (f) Any improperly tendered documents will be returned to the offering party to be corrected; and
- (g) A copy of this Section be provided to any party proposing to offer a right of way easement to the District. (Reso. 94-551, 1994)

Section 6.01.090. Extension/Oversizing. The District may require a developer or owner to oversize or extend a line or appurtenance or provide additional lines or appurtenances beyond what is required to serve the development being proposed. In such cases the District may determine that it would be fair and equitable for future owners or users of the lines or appurtenances to reimburse the developer for such additional costs on a prorata basis with future owners/users. Such reimbursement may be allowed under the following conditions:

- (a) District may require sewer lines to be constructed by a developer of a parcel or parcels at developer's expense to reach District facilities not immediately adjoining developer's parcel.
 - (b) Other appurtenances or oversizing may also be required.
- (c) Such sewer line or appurtenance construction may benefit other parcels which adjoin the line constructed by developer.
- (d) Such other parcels should not enjoy a windfall benefit and should share in the cost expended to sewer the first parcel or parcels.
- (e) Prior to allowing connection to District facilities developers of a subsequent parcel or parcels shall be required to enter into a contract with District whereby such developer of subsequent parcel or parcels agrees to such developer's pro rata share of the original construction cost under terms and conditions established by District.
- (f) Upon receipt of said sum District shall forthwith remit said sum less administrative costs to the initial developer having paid for the entire sewer line benefiting all parcels.
- (g) All sums unpaid when due as agreed upon by said contract shall bear interest at the rate of six (6%) percent from the time due until paid.
- (h) The District Engineer shall prepare for Board approval a report setting forth the total cost of said sewer line construction, the cost to District for the administration of the contract, the number and location of parcels to be served, the total of other District fees to be shared by all benefiting parcels, and such other data that may be necessary for reimbursement required by this Section.
 - (i) No reimbursement will be made beyond ten (10) years from the date of the final

approval of the project by the District Engineer.

(j) No connection to any District facility affected by this Section shall be allowed until the provisions hereof shall have been fully complied with and approved by the District Engineer. (Reso. 94-552, 1994)

Chapter 6.02 - Sewer and Lateral Maintenance

Section 6.02.010. <u>District Maintenance</u>. Unless provided otherwise by contract or other arrangement, District shall maintain those sewer mains and appurtenances that it owns. (*Ord. 8, 1971; Ord. 30, 1999*)

Section 6.02.020. Lateral Responsibility. The property owner shall maintain the lateral that connects to District's sewer main, including any portions that may lie within the public right of way or Costa Mesa Sanitary District easement. Said laterals shall be maintained in a safe, sanitary and unobstructed condition, and all devices or safeguards which are appurtenant to and necessary for the operation thereof shall be maintained in good working order. Hydrogen sulfide represents a particular corrosion and odor problem. Owners shall comply with standards of the Orange County Sanitation District with respect to effluent placed in the lateral including, but not limited to hydrogen sulfide, which shall not exceed 0.5 milligrams per liter or such stricter standard as the Orange County Sanitation District may adopt. (Ord. 8, 1971) (Ord. 81, 2010)

Section 6.02.030. <u>Sewer or Lateral Work.</u> All work done on or to any sewer or lateral shall be done in a careful and prudent manner so as to not damage District facilities. Only persons licensed appropriately and having all necessary permits shall be allowed to do such work and may be required to post a bond before beginning with the project. *(Ord. 8, 1971)*

Section 6.02.050. Prohibition. Every owner, tenant and persons using property shall have a legal duty not to cause, permit or allow roots or other conditions to exist in sewer laterals so that sewage spills or damage to District lines occur. (Ord. 83, 2011)

Section 6.02.060. Abatement. Provided District can prove that a person, firm or corporation caused or allowed, by failure to take effective maintenance measures, roots or other conditions to occur in the sewer lateral so that a District line or appurtenance is damaged or so that a sewer overflow occurs, or that a sewer overflow is imminent, District may charge the responsible person for that damage and for the abatement costs of any response necessary. District shall first provide the ostensibly responsible person with a copy of the evidence that forms the basis of the proof, a copy of the District Engineer's tentative conclusions about the condition of the sewer lateral and any causes for that condition, and a copy of this Chapter. Said responsible person shall have an appropriate amount of time to respond to said charges in a hearing in which due process will be provided. Generally, at least ten days' notice of the hearing shall be given. If possible, the responsible person shall be given notice at the time of the sewer overflow or damage if the person is believed to be the cause at that time. The responsible person shall also be provided with a copy of the charges incurred to date before the hearing if those are available. (Ord. 83, 2011; Ord. 99, 2013)

Section 6.02.070. Reconstruction. In cases in which a property is a source of sewer spills on more than one occasion, such that recurrence is likely, or in cases in which there is an imminent danger of future sewer spills, the Board may order that a responsible person reconstruct the sewer lateral or other appropriate device to protect the District's system or to protect against sewer system overflows that would be a violation of federal. state or local law. Said order shall not be made unless the property owner and other appropriate persons have been given notice of the proposed action and an opportunity to address the Board of Directors regarding the proposed action. Any order to reconstruct shall contain a finding that the action was necessary to protect the public health, safety and welfare, which are threatened by future sewer spills that are otherwise likely. (Ord. 83, 2011)

Section 6.02.080. Termination of Service. The District shall also have the right, in addition to any other rights that it may have, to terminate the property from District's Before such termination shall occur, District shall provide the due process required by Health and Safety Code Section 6523.2. (Ord. 83, 2011)

Section 6.02.090. <u>Violations</u>. Any person violating any provisions of this Chapter, including failing to take corrective action after being provided with a hearing thereon, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and punished as provided in Section 1.02.010 of this Code. (Ord. 83, 2011)

Chapter 6.03 - Televising and Repair of Sewer Laterals

Section 6.03.010. Purpose. The District is under an Order from the State Water Resources Control Board to enact laws to prevent Sanitary Sewer Overflows (SSOs) through the adoption of a comprehensive Sewer System Management Plan. It has been recognized that poorly maintained sewer laterals can cause SSOs, which may reach the storm water system and ultimately the Santa Ana River and the Pacific Ocean. Televising of the sewer laterals at appropriate times will reduce the amount of SSOs. The District finds that requiring such televising at the times described is reasonable and rationally related to the legal obligation of the District to help prevent sewer spills.

Section 6.03.020. Events Requiring Televising of Sewer Laterals. Property owners shall be required to cause an inspection of their sewer lateral prepared by a licensed plumber and utilizing closed circuit television (CCTV) or other inspection determined by the District Engineer to be equivalent in the following circumstances:

- Whenever a condominium conversion is proposed. (a)
- Whenever a remodel costing in excess of \$25,000 or whenever an enlargement of 200 square feet or more is added to a dwelling.
 - (c) Whenever two or more plumbing fixtures are added.
 - (d) Whenever a sanitary sewer overflow occurs at the property. (Ord. 116, 2016)

Section 6.03.025. Exception If Recent CCTV Exists. Property owners shall not be

required to cause an inspection of their sewer lateral as provided in 6.03.020, above, if:

- (a) a condominium conversion is proposed, or
- (b) a major remodel costing in excess of \$50,000 is proposed, or if an enlargement of over 300 square feet is proposed to be added to a dwelling, or
- (c) two or more plumbing fixtures are added, and
- (d) at the time the permit is applied for and fees are paid, there is on file a copy of a CCTV for the sewer lateral that is less than one year old and has been accepted by the District as showing that the lateral is running free and clear. (Ord. 116, 2016)

Section 6.03.030. Requirements for a CCTV Inspection and Repairs. When required under certain sections of the District's Operations Code, the following procedure shall be used by the property owner to obtain approval for the use of an existing sewer lateral:

- 1. The property owner shall have a closed-circuit television (CCTV) inspection of the sewer lateral performed by a licensed plumber.
- 2. The CCTV video shall show the date of the inspection, identify the beginning point of the inspection, include an audio assessment of the proceedings by the licensed plumber, and include a footage counter to identify points along and the ending point of the inspection.
- The licensed plumber shall mark on the ground surface directly above the lateral
 for the benefit of the property owner the location of problem areas including the
 incidence of roots, joint problems, pipe problems, infiltration, or other significant
 findings.
- 4. The property owner shall furnish the District with a copy of the CCTV inspection report within 14 days of the performance of the CCTV inspection. The District shall review the CCTV inspection and shall respond with its findings within 14 days.
- 5. District Staff, including the District Engineer, or person delegated by the District Engineer, shall review the CCTV inspection report and will assess whether the existing lateral is sufficient in its existing condition or whether rehabilitation is necessary.
- 6. If the CCTV inspection report discloses root intrusion that prevents the District from observing the structural condition of the private sewer lateral, the property owner may be required to have a licensed plumber remove the roots and perform a second CCTV of the sewer lateral.

- 7. Based on the CCTV inspection of the sewer lateral, the District will evaluate the condition of the sewer lateral and its ability to remain in adequate service for 30 additional years while preventing infiltration and the ability of any misaligned joints or roots to cause a sanitary sewer overflow (SSO).
- 8. The District may require the property owner to rehabilitate the sewer lateral to insure a life expectancy of an additional 30 years. (Ord. 62, 2007)

Section 6.03.040. Appeal. Should any person be dissatisfied with any position of staff with regards to their compliance with this chapter, they are entitled to appeal the decision to the Board of Directors by filing such an appeal within 15 days of the decision, provided notice of the time limit is given by the District in writing. The person so appealing shall state in a written document the person whose decision is being appealed, the grounds for the appeal, and any back up data that supports the appeal. The Board shall hear the appeal within a reasonable time thereafter. (Ord. 62, 2007)

Chapter 6.04 - Development and Miscellaneous Fees, Permits and Charges

Section 6.04.010. <u>Introduction</u>. The Sanitary District collects various fees, permits and charges related to development approvals and other miscellaneous services the District provides. This Chapter shall describe those fees, permits and charges and clarify why the same are paid and the limitations that may exist with respect to how such fees and charges are collected, expended and accounted.

Section 6.04.020. <u>User Fees</u>. These charges are meant to reasonably approximate the cost to the District to provide a service to a person or company. These would include, but not be limited to, charges for reviewing plans or inspecting a sewer, or making copies of District documents. These charges may be pass-through costs of District's engineer, inspector or surveyor. Annexation fees would also be such a user fee. This may also include the cost of making copies, as limited by the California Public Records Act. These charges are always to be based on estimated costs to the District, including, where appropriate, reasonable amounts of overhead. In appropriate cases an estimate shall be made, and the person/company for whom the service is to be provided shall be required to make a deposit of the estimated costs. The person providing the service shall bill against the deposit, and a detailed accounting shall be made. Additional sums may need to be paid or a refund may be appropriate. In other cases where the tasks are reasonably routine, a per-service charge shall be the sole amount collected but shall be based on time and motion estimates of the average charge for the service. These fees are generally set forth in this Code.

Section 6.04.030. <u>Connection Fees.</u> Generally, connection fees would be charged in lieu of the developer or owner installing a sewer facility. Pursuant to statutory and case law, these fees are the direct cost of installing the sewer. The District's connection permit fee, by contrast, is a fee to cover the cost of issuing the permit.

Section 6.04.040. <u>Fixture Fees.</u> Fixture fees are capacity charges for public facilities in existence at the time a charge is imposed or charges for new public facilities to be acquired or constructed in the future that are of proportional benefit to the person or

property being charged, including supply or capacity contracts for rights or entitlements, real property interests, and entitlements and other rights of the local agency involving capital expense relating to its use of existing or new public facilities. The following applies to those fees:

- (a) <u>Purpose</u>. Fixture fees shall be used for the purposes identified in the engineer's report, or study commissioned by the District Engineer, that establishes the facilities that are to be constructed or rehabilitated to serve the development upon which the fees are imposed. Those facilities shall either be directly related to the development or indirectly related in which case the fixture fee shall only pay a fair portion of the charges.
- (b) <u>Facilities</u>. The facilities for which the fees are collected shall be identified in an engineer's report. Those facilities should, but need not be, included in the District's Capital Improvement Plan.
- (c) Reasonable Relationship between Development and Fee. The engineer's report shall demonstrate a reasonable relationship between the type of development and the use of the fee.
- (d) Reasonable Relationship between Facility and Type of Development for which Fee Imposed. The engineer's report shall demonstrate a reasonable relationship between the type of development and the facility being proposed.
- (e) Reasonable Relationship between Amount of Fee and the Cost of the Facility or Portion of the Facility. In any action imposing a fee on a development, the District shall be able to justify the amount of the fee and the cost of the facility or portion of the facility attributable to the development.
- (f) <u>Deposit</u>. Upon payment of the fees, the money shall be deposited in a separate capital facilities account maintained in accordance with Government Code Section 66013(d). For each such separate account, the District shall, within one hundred eight (180) days of the close of the fiscal year, make available to the public the following information:
 - (1) A description of the charges deposited in the fund.
 - (2) The beginning and ending balance of the fund and the interest earned from investment of moneys in the fund.
 - (3) The amount of charges collected in that fiscal year.
 - (4) An identification of all of the following:
 - (A) Each public improvement on which charges were expended and the amount of the expenditure for each improvement, including the percentage of the total cost of the public improvement that was funded with those charges if more than one source of funding was used.
 - (B) Each public improvement on which charges were expended that was completed during that fiscal year.

- (C) Each public improvement that is anticipated to be undertaken in the following fiscal year.
- (5) A description of each interfund transfer or loan made from the capital facilities fund. The information provided, in the case of an interfund transfer, shall identify the public improvements on which the transferred moneys are, or will be, expended. The information, in the case of an interfund loan, shall include the date on which the loan will be repaid, and the rate of interest that the fund will receive on the loan.

Section 6.04.050. <u>Definitions</u>. For the purpose of this chapter, certain words and terms are defined as follows:

- (a) <u>Fixture Fee Charges</u>. Are those District charges paid by or on behalf of the property owner for the construction of public improvements that will benefit a development and that are justified by an engineering and financial analysis in accordance with Government Code Section 66013 or successor statute.
- (b) <u>Connection Manhole</u>. Shall mean a manhole constructed in the main line of a District sewer not as part of the original construction, or a manhole built adjacent thereto, for the purpose of permitting sewage to flow into a District sewer.
- (c) <u>District Sewerage Facility</u>. Shall mean any property belonging to District used in the transportation or disposal of sewage or industrial waste.
- (d) <u>Domestic Sewage</u>. Shall mean the waterborne wastes derived from the ordinary living processes which are of such volume and character as to permit satisfactory disposal into a public sewer.
- (e) <u>Dwelling Unit</u>. A dwelling unit shall consist of one or more rooms in any building designed for occupancy by one family and containing one kitchen unit.
- (f) <u>Industrial Waste</u>. Shall mean any and all liquid or solid waste substance, not sewage, from any producing, manufacturing or processing operation of whatever nature.
- (g) <u>Industrial Waste Treatment Plant or Facility</u>. Shall mean any works or device for the treatment of industrial waste prior to its discharge into the District sewerage facilities.
- (h) <u>Plumbing Fixture Unit</u>. A plumbing fixture unit as used in this ordinance is defined as being the same as set forth in the California Plumbing Code, a copy of which is one file in the office of the Clerk of the District. All roughing-in for future fixtures will be counted as fixture units to set charges.
- (i) <u>Pretreatment</u>. Shall mean treatment prior to discharge into a District sewerage facility by means of an industrial waste treatment plant or facility.
- (j) <u>Public Corporation</u>. Shall mean any city, district or other public agency duly authorized under the laws of the State of California.

- (k) <u>Sewerage Facilities</u>. Shall mean any facilities used in the collection, transportation, treatment or disposal of sewage and industrial waste.
- (I) <u>Sewer Manholes</u>. Shall mean those manholes constructed as a part of the District's sewer system.
- (m) <u>Sewer Additional Dwelling Unit (ADU)</u>. Shall mean any domestic dwelling unit as defined as such by the State of California.

Section 6.04.060. Permit Regulations.

- (a) Requirements. No person or public corporation shall connect to, use or maintain a connection to the sewerage facilities of the District without a valid permit, or fail to comply with each and every condition of that permit.
- (b) <u>Condition Precedent</u>. No permit shall be valid unless the real property to be sewered by the use of the permit shall be included within the boundaries of the District or is currently being annexed to the District or unless said property is subject to or is being made subject to a service contract between real property owner and the District.
- (c) <u>Permit</u>. A sewer permit shall be comprised of two different components: (1) a permit to connect to the District's system, and (2) a permit to use or discharge into the system.
 - (1) Permit to Connect. A connection permit for the purpose of authorizing connection to a District sewerage facility in accordance with District's regulations and under conditions set forth in said permit is required before connection will be authorized.
 - (2) Permit to Use. The use permit will prescribe requirements as to a connection manhole, an industrial waste treatment plant or facility, or pretreatment, all to ensure compliance with the District regulations as to characteristics, quality and quantity of sewage and industrial waste. Such requirements should be set forth in the permit.
 - (3) Surcharges for Use Permit. The District hereby establishes the quantity of twenty thousand (20,000) cubic feet of sewage or industrial waste per month per acre of real property served as the maximum allowable effluent to be discharged into the District's sewerage facilities without the payment of surcharges. Each user discharging more than twenty thousand (20,000) cubic feet of sewage or industrial waste per month per acre shall be charged an amount per one thousand (1,000) identified in the Permit Fee schedule. The surcharge fee as of May 2023 is Twelve dollars (\$12.00) per one thousand (1,000) cubic feet or any portion thereof in excess of the twenty thousand (20,000) cubic feet maximum. Measurements may be required by the permittee, or permittee's effluent may be considered equivalent to the water (excepting irrigation water) purchased by permittee. Permittee upon demand shall provide District with his or its water usage records and District shall bill excess users of the system monthly based upon the charges set forth herein. In

addition to said charges, users may also be charged fees for increased development in accordance with Chapter 6.05.

- (d) <u>Suspension or Revocation of Use Permit</u>. The permit to use may be suspended or revoked if a permittee is acting in violation of any provision of the permit or of the ordinances, rules or regulations of the District thirty (30) days after receiving a formal written notice of such violation and a demand for correction thereof from the District. Such formal written notice shall be given only upon recommendation of the General Manager. Appropriate due process shall be provided before such actions are taken, and the Board of Directors shall provide for a hearing if requested in a timely manner.
- (e) <u>Violation</u>. For each day or part of a day a permittee whose permit has been suspended or revoked continues to discharge sewage or industrial waste into a District sewerage facility in violation of the permit or of the ordinances, rules or regulations of the District, he or it shall be charged as a civil penalty the sum equal to ten (10) percent of the fixture fee charges per day. No formal written notice of violation shall be authorized unless the General Manager of the District has first given an informal written notice of violation to the subject permittee at least thirty (30) days in advance of action of the Board of Directors. The same noticing procedure set forth hereinabove shall apply for intermittent or sporadic violators and in lieu of a suspension of permit, the Board of Directors may impose a civil fine in accordance with the District's administrative citation provisions per day or any part of a day for intermittent violations. The amount of the fine may be directly related to increased handling costs occasioned to the District by reason of such violations and/or damage caused to the sewerage facilities of this District by such violations. In such cases the formal written notice of violation shall set forth the fine to be imposed for violations after the thirty (30) day correction period.
- (f) <u>Criminal Penalty</u>. Any person, firm or corporation that connects or discharges to District's sewerage system without a valid connection permit or other legal right shall also be guilty of a misdemeanor and punishable as provided in Chapter 1.02.010 of this Code for each day's violation.
- (g) <u>Procedure to Acquire Permit</u>. An applicant for a connection permit or his agent shall make application on a form furnished by the District. The permit application shall be supplemented by such plans, specifications or other information considered pertinent in the judgment of the General Manager of the District. The permit fee and charges as hereinafter described shall be paid to the District at the time the permit application is filed.
- (h) <u>Disposition of Charges</u>. All charges established under this Article, when collected, shall be deposited in the appropriate fund and accounted for in accordance with the law.
- (i) <u>License Status</u>. For sewer work that will be accepted into the District's system, or that will involve excavation in the public right of way, or that will involve a connection to the District's main line, the Contractor shall maintain a C-42 or "A" license, or such other license that the District Engineer shall determine is similar based on state law. For all other general plumbing work involving only private facilities on private property, the contractor

shall have a C-36 license or such license as the District Engineer determines is similar based on state law. District personnel shall verify the status of the license before the permit will issue.

- (j) Insurance. Insurance of at least One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000.00) shall only be required for permit issuance if work will involve District facilities or excavation work in the right of way. For that work, no permit will be issued unless the contractor doing the work has commercial general liability, with underground coverage, and automobile coverage. Contractor shall also provide proof of workers compensation coverage. The District and its officers, agents and employees shall be named as an additional insured and provided with an endorsement evidencing such coverage on District forms or on forms acceptable to District. Such coverage must provide that it will not be cancelled without 30 days' notice to the District. Insurance shall have a Best's Key Guide rating of A- VIII or better and must be issued by an insurance company authorized to do business in California. Contractors performing work for the District shall follow the insurance requirements of the contract.
- (k) <u>Bonds</u>. For insurance that will involve District facilities or work in the right of way, the District shall require a performance bond if the work is over \$25,000 in value and shall require a labor and materials bond before the permit will issue. The bonds must be issued by an admitted surety. No permit will issue unless such bonds are on file and have been verified. (*Ord. 112, 2016*)

Section 6.04.070. <u>Permit Charges</u>. Before any connection permit shall be issued, the applicant shall pay to the District or its agent the charges specified in the District resolution establishing fixture fees:

(a) <u>Fixture Fee Permit Charges, Plumbing Unit.</u> A charge per fixture shall be collected from new construction as follows:

FIXTURE	FIXTURE FEE
Bathtub	\$34.50
Laundry Tub or Washing Machine	\$51.75
Shower	\$34.50
Sink, bar (hand)	\$17.25
Sink, Kitchen	\$34.50
Bathroom Sink (Wash Basin)	\$17.25
Wash Basin (Bathroom Sink Set)	\$34.50
Water Closet (Toilet)	\$103.50
Bidet	\$34.50
Dental Units	\$17.25
Drinking Fountains	\$17.25
Floor Drains	\$34.50
Interceptors for Grease, Oil, Solids, Etc.	\$51.75
Interceptors for Sand, Auto Wash, Etc.	\$103.50
Laundry Tub or Washer (Self Service)	\$51.75
Shower, Gang - Per Head	\$17.25
Sinks, Bar-Commercial	\$34.50
Sinks, Commercial or Industrial	\$51.75
Sinks, Floor	\$17.25
Sinks, Flushing Rim	\$103.50
Sinks, Service	\$51.75
Swimming Pool	\$160.00
Urinals, Pedestal	\$103.50
Urinals, Stall	\$34.50
Urinals, Wall	\$34.50
Urinals, Wall Trough	\$51.75
Dish Washer	\$34.50

⁽b) <u>Connection Charge for Mobile Homes</u>. For each mobile home parking space in any mobile home park, the sewer connection charge shall be calculated at twelve (12) fixture units, at \$23.00 per fixture unit.

- (c) When Charge Is to Be Paid. Payment of connection permit charges shall be required at the time of the issuance of the connection permit, and no connection shall be made until said permit has been issued showing compliance with District regulations and specifications. For that portion of the District within the City of Newport Beach and within the unincorporated area of the County of Orange, said fee shall nevertheless be paid through the offices of the Costa Mesa Sanitary District, 290 Paularino Avenue, Costa Mesa, California.
- (d) <u>Schedule of Charges</u>. A schedule of charges specified herein will be on file in the office of the Clerk of the District and in the office of the Costa Mesa Sanitary District.
- (e) <u>Interpretation of Permit Regulations</u>. If the factual situations presented do not follow precisely within the rules herein promulgated in this Article, the Board of Directors shall interpret them in a reasonable manner and consistent with the intent of this Chapter. In making such interpretations, the Board shall be guided by the policy of the District to base fees and charges in accordance with the benefits and uses supplied by the District. Those receiving the greatest benefit and most use of the facilities provided by the District shall proportionately bear more of the costs and expenses of the District.

Section 6.04.080. <u>Fees.</u> Certain fees established by the District, including, but not limited to, plan check, inspection, permit and annexation fees, shall be established by separate resolution.

(a) Permit Fee		
	Permit Fee	\$140.00

(b) Plan Check and Inspection

Tie-in to Existing Lateral	\$250.00
Construction of New Lateral	\$420.00
Small New Development	\$420.00
Construction of New Manhole	\$1,155.00
Swimming Pool Connection	\$160.00
Large New Development	\$1,260.00
Construction of New Facilities*	\$11.00
Annexation	\$2,800.00
Sewer Permit	\$140.00
Cap Lateral and Demolition	\$110.00
Minor On-Site Plumbing Work	\$150.00
Grease Interceptor	\$350.00
*Per linear foot	

(c) Annexation Fee. The Costa Mesa Sanitary District share of the annexation fee is \$2,800.00 and the total fee shall include the appropriate charges from the Local Agency Formation Commission, the State Board of Equalization and the County of Orange.

The District may charge actual additional costs incurred in annexation which may be caused by, but not necessarily limited to, annexation elections, the expenses of public hearings in no consent annexations, litigation challenging the validity of Board action in the approval of annexations and such other reasonable costs which may be incurred over and above the permit fee provided for in this Article and subsection. Additional assessments for annexation may be imposed by the District for costs and expenses incurred by the District which are of an unusual nature not normally incurred in the course of an annexation or any additional cost or expense incurred by the District to correct any error or misrepresentation made by any applicant to the District regarding any proposed annexation.

No refund will be made to any applicant abandoning any annexation where said abandonment is not attributable to any fault of the District.

(d) Connection Fee. The permit fee of \$140.00 shall be charged where applicant wishes to connect to and use District facilities without construction of improvements. The fee shall be charged in any case where District administrative and inspection services are required. (Ord. 75, 2010) (Reso. 2010-777, 2010)

Section 6.04.085. <u>Credits.</u> In the case of existing structures connected to the District's system facilities, where new construction or alteration is made to change or increase the capacity, the fixture fees shall be calculated and paid to the District on the new use and in the amounts as set forth in Section 6.04.070, less a credit amount for demolished fixtures. Fee credit amounts shall be uniformly calculated and shall only be applied when proof of the existing structure and the number of plumbing fixtures demolished is provided to the District. (*Ord.* 97, 2013)

Section 6.04.090. Penalties and Surcharges for Violations. Permits Subsequently Obtained. Any person or public corporation connecting to a District sewerage facility or connecting to a sewerage facility which discharges into a District sewerage facility without first having obtained a permit as herein provided shall be charged double the amount hereinabove described for his or its permit.

Section 6.04.100. Funds. All of the monies collected in this Chapter shall be deposited, used and accounted for in accordance with the law by which those monies were collected.

Section 6.04.110. Other Agency Fees. In addition to those fees provided elsewhere in this Code, there shall be established and collected the following fees, the amount of which shall be determined by the agency for which they are collected:

- (a) Any fee collected for and remitted to the Orange County Sanitation District.
- (b) State Board of Equalization annexation filing fees collected for and remitted to that agency.
- (c) County Surveyor for the County of Orange fee collected for and remitted to that agency for annexation plan check.

- (d) Fees collected and remitted to Orange County Local Agency Formation Commission.
- (e) Any other fee required to be collected and remitted to any other governmental agency as a condition to annexation or use of said governmental agency's facilities. (Ord. 20, 1989)
- **Section 6.04.120.** <u>Fee Changes</u>. All of the fees established by this Ordinance may be increased, decreased, or abolished, or otherwise modified at any time by resolution duly adopted by the Board of Directors of the District and said resolution shall have the same force and effect when adopted as though this Ordinance has been amended to provide said changes. (*Ord. 20, 1989*)
- **Section 6.04.130.** <u>Annexation Requirements</u>. (a) When Deemed Annexed. Except as hereinafter provided, no sanitary sewer service, including residential trash disposal service, shall be provided to any applicant for service unless and until said applicant shall have applied for and been approved for annexation to the District. Approval shall be deemed complete when approved by the Local Agency Formation Commission.
- (b) Exceptions: Sanitary sewer service, and trash collection, may be provided by contract to applicants for service without annexation to the District, however contracts for service may be entered into by the District only on those parcels lying in County territory or within the geographical limits of an incorporated city other than the City of Costa Mesa and after obtaining LAFCO's prior approval if required by state law. All parcels lying within the geographical limits of the City of Costa Mesa will be served only after annexation to the District as heretofore set forth. (Ord. 20, 1989)
- Section 6.04.140. <u>Affordable Housing Priority</u>. (a) In accordance with Government Code Section 65589.7 or any successor statute, the District shall ensure that developments that contain an affordable housing component shall be provided with a sewer connection if the applicant complies with all District laws and regulations unless the Board makes findings that there is insufficient collection capacity, that the District is under an order that no further connections be allowed, or unless the applicant fails to comply with District laws or to enter into an agreement with District to comply with such laws. District shall review the relevant housing elements at least every five years to determine that sufficient collection capacity exists.
 - (b) State law shall be referred to for all definitions and to more fully describe District's obligations under said law. (Ord. 56, 2006)
- **Section 6.04.150.** <u>Enforcement</u>. In addition to any other remedies that may exist, the provisions of this Ordinance may be enforced by civil action at law and/or by injunction. In this connection these regulations shall be construed as a contract by the Costa Mesa Sanitary District and each permittee. (*Ord. 76, 2010*)

Chapter 6.05 - Increases in Density/Development

Section 6.05.010. Purpose. The District has determined its capacity rates and charges in a capital facilities study based on projections made according to development density based on the applicable local agencies' general plan and zoning laws. Changes in those laws that allow an increase in density or development may cause adverse impacts on the District and surcharge its system. Accordingly, the District does hereby determine that it may require a developer or owner to participate in the cost of providing additional sewer capacity through either additional construction or the payment of fees commensurate with this increased burden. (Ord. 21, 1989) (Reso. 94-555, 1994)

Section 6.05.020. <u>Increased Fees or Construction</u>. Any owner or developer of such proposed development that will cause an increased burden to the sewage system above the District's projections contained in its capital facilities study based on then-current zoning, may be required to pay for such increased surcharge on the District's system or may be required to oversize or provide additional appurtenances at its cost. (Ord. 21, 1989) (Reso. 94-555, 1994)

Section 6.05.030. Analysis. When the District Engineer determines that there will either be (a) an increase in plumbing fixtures, or (b) an increase in density that will materially increase the use of District's sewerage system over and above that projected in the District's capital facilities study, the owner/developer shall deposit a check in the sum of one-thousand dollars (\$1,000) as an advance to pay for the costs of a study to determine the impact on District's system and what the owner/developer should fairly pay for the increase in density or development. Said sum shall be a deposit and the District will provide an accounting of the funds and any refund due. Should the deposit not be sufficient to complete the study, the owner/developer may be required to deposit further sums. (Ord. 21, 1989) (Reso. 94-555, 1994)

Section 6.05.040. <u>Justification</u>. Any additional fee or construction required shall be justified as follows:

- (a) Any money collected shall not exceed the cost of serving the additional density or development.
- (b) Any additional construction of sewerage facilities shall have been made necessary by the increased density/development, unless the developer is provided with a reimbursement agreement for any part not caused by the proposed development.
- (c) Any money collected for the additional development must not exceed the proportional cost of providing the capital facilities to serve the additional development.
 - (d) No part of any money collected is used for any other purpose but for capital sewer facilities and related costs. (Ord. 21, 1989) (Reso. 94-555, 1994)

Section 6.05.050. <u>Fund Established</u>. Any money collected for such purposes shall be kept in a separate fund and not in the District's general fund and shall be accounted for

in accordance with state law, including refunding any excess held over five years. (Ord. 21, 1989) (Reso. 94-555, 1994)

Section 6.05.060. Exceptions. This Chapter does not apply to any money collected or facilities installed for which the developer is given a reimbursement agreement. (Ord. 21, 1989) (Reso. 94-552, 1994)

Section 6.05.070. <u>Additional Charges</u>. District may require that an owner or developer additionally pay engineering, inspection and plan checking and other costs made necessary by its project. An owner or developer may also be required to pay the costs of acquisition of additional right of way or easements made necessary by the project. (Ord. 21, 1989) (Reso. 94-555, 1994)

Chapter 6.06 - Annual Sewer Charges

Section 6.06.010. Annual Charges. Pursuant to an ordinance heretofore adopted, the Board has adopted the procedure set forth in Health and Safety Code Section 5473 for the collection of liquid waste charges on the tax roll on an annual basis along with the general taxes collected by the tax collector. (Ord. 30, 1999)

Section 6.06.020. <u>Substantive Requirements for Charges</u>. Before said charges are confirmed, the Board shall ensure that the charges meet the substantive requirements imposed on such charges by California Constitution, Article XIIID:

- 1. Revenues derived from the fee or charge have not exceeded the funds required to provide the property related service.
- 2. Revenue from the fee or charge is not being used for any purpose other than that for which the fee or charge is imposed.
- 3. The amount of a fee or charge imposed upon any parcel or person as an incident of property ownership does not exceed the proportional cost of the service attributable to the parcel.
- 4. The fee or charge is not imposed for service unless the service is actually used by, or immediately available to, the owner of the property in question.
- 5. No fee or charge is being imposed for general governmental services such as police, fire, ambulance, or libraries, where the service is available to the public in substantially the same manner as it is to property owners.

Section 6.06.030. <u>Procedural Requirements</u>. Pursuant to California Constitution Article XIIID, before said charges are confirmed for a new or increased charge, a public hearing shall be held in which a protest hearing is conducted.

Notice of such hearing shall be mailed to all owners of record that are the subject of the charge, and the hearing shall also be published in accordance with law. If a majority protest is received, that charge shall not be imposed. (Ord. 30, 1999)

Section 6.06.040. Filing of Report with Auditor. After the charges have been confirmed, the clerk shall file a copy of the report with the auditor in the manner required by Health and Safety Code Section 5473.4. (Ord. 30, 1999)

Chapter 6.07 - FOG Control

Section 6.07.010. Purpose. The purpose of these regulations is to exercise the District's authority to protect the public health and safety by preventing sewer spills. The Board has determined that there is substantial evidence that grease and similar products accumulate in the sewer lines causing back-ups. The Orange County Grand Jury has made findings that these sewer spills largely can be prevented if local agencies with authority adopt effective grease regulations. The State Water Resources Control Board, through Order No. 2002-0103-DWQ, mandates that the District comply with said order and implement regulations for its sanitary sewer systems. These regulations are intended to implement and comply with the State Order. (Ord. 121, 2018)

Section 6.07.020. <u>Definitions</u>. For purposes of this chapter, the following definitions shall apply:

- (a) "Food Service Establishment (FSE)" shall mean any entity, including its members, operators and employees, located within the boundaries of the District, engaged in the business of storing, preparing, serving, manufacturing, packaging, or handling food for sale to other entities, or for consumption by the public, and which has any process or device that uses or produces FOG, or grease vapors, steam, fumes, smoke or odors that are required to be removed by a Type 1 or Type II hood provided in the California Mechanical Code. A limited food preparation facility is not considered a Food Service Establishment when it is engaged only in reheating, hot holding or assembly of ready to eat food products and as a result, there is no wastewater discharge containing a significant amount of FOG. A limited food preparation establishment does not include any operation that changes the form, flavor, or consistency of food.
- (b) "FOG Program Manager" shall mean District Engineer, or otherW individual designated by the General Manager to administer the Grease Control Program. The FOG Program Manager is responsible for all determinations of compliance with the program, including approval of discretionary variances and waivers.

- (c) "Grease" or "fats, oil and grease (FOG)" shall mean and include any waste containing excessive quantities or concentrations of dispersed biodegradable oils, fats, and greases, such as lard, tallow or vegetable oil.
- (d) "Grease Control Device" (GCD) shall mean any Grease Interceptor, Grease Trap or other mechanism, device, or process, which is attached to, or is applied to, wastewater plumbing fixtures and lines, the purpose of which is to trap or collect or treat FOG-laden wastewater prior to its discharge into the sewer system. "Grease Control Device" also includes any other District approved method to reduce FOG.
- (e) "Grease Interceptor" shall mean a multi-compartment device that is required to be located, according to the California Plumbing Code, between a Food Service Establishment and the connection to the sewer system. These devices primarily use gravity to separate FOG from the wastewater as it moves from one compartment to the next. When operated by gravity these devices are sometimes referred to as a Gravity Grease Interceptor. Grease Interceptors must be cleaned, maintained, and have the FOG and solids removed and disposed of in accordance with District's best management practices guidelines.
- (f) "Grease Removal Devices" shall mean a type of hydro-mechanical grease interceptor that automatically and mechanically removes non-petroleum fats, oils, and grease from the interceptor, the control of which is either automatic or manually initiated.
- (g) "Grease Trap", also referred to as hydro-mechanical grease interceptor or HGI, shall mean a Grease Control Device that is used to serve individual fixtures. Grease Traps must be cleaned, maintained, and have the FOG and solids removed and disposed. A Grease Trap may only be used when the District determines that the use of a Grease Interceptor or other Grease Control Device is impossible or impracticable.
- (h) "Hot Spots" shall mean areas in the sewer system that must be cleaned or maintained frequently to avoid blockages.
- (i) "New Construction" shall mean any structure planned or under construction for which a sewer connection permit has not been issued.
- (j) "Remodeling" shall mean a physical change or operational change that increases the amount of FOG discharged to the sewer system by the FSE in an amount that alone or collectively causes or creates a potential for blockages or SSOs to occur; or requires either a building permit or plumbing permit, and involves any one or combination of the following:
 - 1. Under slab plumbing in the food processing area;
 - 2. An increase in the net public seating area;
 - 3. An increase in the size of the kitchen area; or

- 4. Any change in the size or type of food preparation equipment.
- (k) "SSO" shall mean sanitary sewer overflow

Section 6.07.030. Prohibition. Every owner, tenant and persons using property shall have a duty not to cause, permit or allow the accumulation of grease in the District's sewer line so that sewage spills may occur. Such persons shall use reasonable methods to reduce grease accumulation in the District's sewer lines including but not limited to reducing or eliminating the grease that is deposited in the sewer. No person shall discharge grease into the sewer system so as to cause an accumulation in the District's lines so as to substantially contribute to the possibility of a sewage overflow.

Section 6.07.040. Permit Required. No Food Service Establishment shall discharge into the District's system without obtaining a permit from the District describing the business operations and discharge and any FOG prevention measures being undertaken or to be undertaken to reduce the discharge of FOG into the District's system in accordance with this chapter.

Section 6.07.050. <u>Best Management Practices Required</u>. Food Service Establishments shall implement Best Management Practices in their operation to minimize the discharge of FOG to the sewer system. Detailed requirements for Best Management Practices shall be specified in the permit. This may include kitchen practices and employee training that are essential in minimizing FOG discharge.

Section 6.07.060. <u>FOG Pretreatment Required</u>. Food Service Establishments are required to install, operate and maintain approved type and adequately sized grease interceptors necessary to maintain compliance with the objectives of Chapter 6.07. Grease interceptors shall be adequate to separate and remove FOG contained in wastewater discharges from Food Service Establishments prior to discharge to the sewer system. Fixtures, equipment, and drain lines located in the food preparation and clean up areas of Food Service Establishments that are potential sources of FOG discharge shall be connected to the grease interceptor. Detailed requirements for device maintenance shall be specified in the permit.

Section 6.07.070. New Construction of FSEs - Interceptors Required. The District does not have jurisdiction within structures but does regulate sewer connection and sewer construction. All new commercial construction of Food Service Establishments shall have a grease interceptor that has been approved by the FOG Program Manager unless the developer demonstrates, to the District's satisfaction, that such a device is not necessary based on engineering findings which are set forth in writing.

Section 6.07.080. Existing FSEs - Interceptors Required. (a) Existing FSEs that have reasonable potential to adversely impact the sewer system or have sewer laterals connected to hot spots, as determined by the FOG Program Manager and/or District Engineer, shall have grease interceptors installed.

(b) Existing FSEs undergoing remodeling or a change in operations, or FSEs that change ownership, shall be required to install a grease interceptor.

Section 6.07.090. <u>Variance from Pretreatment Requirements</u>. A variance from the FOG pretreatment requirements to allow alternative pretreatment technology, that is at least equally effective in controlling the FOG discharge, in lieu of a grease interceptor, may be granted to Food Service Establishments demonstrating that it is impossible or impracticable to install, operate or maintain a grease interceptor. The applicant shall bear the burden of demonstrating that the alternative method is at least equally effective. The District's determination to grant a variance will be based upon, but not limited to, evaluation of the following conditions:

- (a) There is no adequate space for installation and/or maintenance of a grease interceptor.
- (b) There is no adequate slope for gravity flow between kitchen plumbing fixtures and the grease interceptor and/or between the grease interceptor and the private collection lines or the public sewer.
- (c) The Food Service Establishment can justify that the alternative pretreatment technology is equivalent to or better than a grease interceptor in controlling its FOG discharge. In addition, the Food Service Establishment must be able to demonstrate, after installation of the proposed alternative pretreatment, its effectiveness to control FOG discharge through downstream visual monitoring of the sewer system at its own expense.

Section 6.07.100. Conditional Waiver from Pretreatment Requirements. A conditional waiver from installation of a grease control device may be granted for FSEs that have been determined to have negligible FOG discharge and insignificant impact to the sewer system. The District's determination to grant or revoke a conditional waiver shall be based upon, but not limited to, evaluation of the following conditions:

- (a) Quantity of FOG discharge as measured or as indicated by the size of the FSE based on seating capacity, number of meals served, menu, water usage, amount of on-site consumption of prepared food and other conditions that may reasonable be shown to contribute to FOG discharges;
- (b) Adequacy of implementation of Best Management Practices and compliance history;
- (c) Sewer size, grade, condition based on visual information, FOG deposition in the sewer by the FSE, and history of maintenance and sewage spills in the receiving sewer system.
- (d) Changes in operations that significantly affect FOG discharge; and
- (e) Any other condition deemed reasonably related to the generation of FOG discharges by the FOG Program Manager.

may request a waiver or variance from the grease pretreatment requirement from the FOG Program Manager. The Food Service Establishment bears the burden of demonstrating, to the FOG Program Manager's reasonable satisfaction, that the installation of a grease interceptor is not feasible or applicable. Upon determination by the FOG Program Manager that reasons are sufficient to justify a variance, terms and conditions for issuance of a waiver or variance to a Food Service Establishment shall be set forth. A waiver or variance may be revoked at any time when any of the terms and conditions for its issuance is not satisfied or if the conditions upon which the determination was based change so that the justification for the waiver or variance no longer exists.

Section 6.07.120. Operations and Maintenance Requirements.

- (a) All Grease Control Devices shall be maintained in efficient operation at all times by the FOG Discharge Permittee at the Permittee's expense. Details of required maintenance shall be specified in the FOG Control Program Manual.
- (b) It shall be the Permittee's/Property Owner's responsibility to ensure that the accumulation of FOG and solids does not exceed 25% of the liquid retention capacity of the grease control device. If a grease control device is specifically designed to function properly with FOG and solids accumulation greater than 25%, the allowable accumulation of FOG and solids may be adjusted by the District on a case-by-case basis.

Section 6.07.130. <u>Grease Interceptor Serving Multiple FSEs on a Single Parcel</u>.

Property owners of commercial properties or their official designee(s) shall be responsible for the installation and maintenance of the grease interceptor serving multiple Food Service Establishments that are located on a single parcel. The owner of the parcel containing a common use grease interceptor shall submit an application and accept the terms as a Permittee under a FOG Discharge Permit.

Section 6.07.140. <u>Inspection and Sampling Conditions</u>. The FOG Program Manager or his designee may inspect or order the inspection and sample the wastewater discharges of any FSE to ascertain whether the FSE is complying with all requirements of this section. The FSE shall allow the District access to the FSE premises, during normal business hours, for purposes of inspecting the FSE's grease control device(s) or interceptor, or reviewing the manifests, receipts, and invoices relating to the cleaning, maintenance, and inspection of the grease control device(s) or interceptor. Where a FSE has security measures in force, the FSE shall make necessary arrangements so that representatives of the District shall be permitted to enter without delay for the purpose of performing their specific responsibilities/inspections.

Section 6.07.150. Enforcement. Failure to comply with the District's FOG Control Program as provided in the District's Operations Code, all generally applicable provisions of Chapter 6.07, the adopted FOG Control Program Manual, and the FOG Discharge Permit or any individual permit conditions will result in enforcement action against the FSE. Enforcement actions may include a Notice of Non-compliance, or any additional and appropriate enforcement actions established in the FOG Control Program Manual and the District's Operations Code.

Section 6.07.160. Abatement. Provided District can prove that a person, firm or corporation caused grease build-up so that a District line or appurtenance is damaged or so that a sewer overflow occurs, or that a sewer overflow is imminent, District may charge the responsible person for that damage and for the abatement costs thereof. District shall first provide the ostensibly responsible person with a copy of the evidence that forms the basis of the proof and a copy of this chapter. Said responsible person shall have an appropriate amount of time to respond to said charges in a hearing in which appropriate due process will be provided. Generally, at least ten days' notice of the hearing shall be given. If possible, the responsible person shall be given notice at the time of the sewer overflow or damage if the person is believed to be the cause at that time. The responsible person shall also be provided with a copy of the charges incurred to date before the hearing if those are available.

Section 6.07.170. Retrofitting. Food Service Establishments found to have contributed to a sewer blockage, SSO or any sewer system interferences resulting from the discharge of wastewater or waste containing FOG, shall be ordered to install and maintain a grease interceptor, and may be subject to a plan to abate the nuisance and prevent any future health hazards created by sewer line failures and blockages, SSOs or any other sewer system interferences. SSOs may cause or threaten to cause injury to public health, safety, and welfare of life and property and are hereby declared public nuisances. Furthermore, sewer lateral failures and SSOs caused by Food Service Establishments alone or collectively, are the responsibility of the private property owner or Food Service Establishment, and those individual(s) that are a responsible officer or owner of the Food Service Establishment. Said order shall not be made unless the property owner has been given notice of the proposed action and an opportunity to address the Board of Directors regarding the proposed action. Any order to retrofit shall contain a finding that the action was necessary to protect the public health, safety and welfare, which are threatened by future sewer spills that are otherwise likely. (Ord. 121, 2018)

Chapter 6.08 - Legal Authority to Comply with Waste Discharge Order

Section 6.08.010. Purpose. The State Water Resources Control Board through Order No. 2022-0103-DWQ, mandates R the District to adopt a Sewer System Management Plan and a grease (fats, oils and grease) control ordinance requiring commercial food establishments to install and maintain sewer interceptors, and requires the District to also establish other legal authority to preserve the integrity of the sewer system and to prevent sewer system spills. This Chapter shall memorialize the District's efforts to comply with the WDR and provide a reference for compliance. This legal authority shall act in conjunction with the District's Sewer System Management Plan (SSMP).

Section 6.08.020. <u>Infiltration Control</u>. (a) The District has established its SSMP and has videotaped the system and determined its condition is sound. The District has also established maintenance and rehabilitation schedules and a Capital Improvement Program for future improvements. The District has thus ensured that District owned sewer lines are inspected and maintained for infiltration control.

- (b) With respect to privately owned sewer laterals, District Operations Code Section 6.02.020 imposes the obligations for such maintenance on the private property owners and imposes a duty on the owner to maintain that sewer lateral in a safe, sanitary and unobstructed condition. By ordinance, the owner must maintain such laterals in good working order. The District has additionally promoted sewer lateral maintenance by publicity campaigns designed to inform property owners of their responsibility and by providing advice on how to achieve that objective.
- (c) In accordance with the authority conferred on the District pursuant to Health and Safety Code Section 6520, all property within the District needing sewer service shall be connected to the District's system. In accordance with Health and Safety Code Section 6520.1, no person may connect any sewer system to the District's system or cause any flows into District's sewer system except pursuant to a lawful connection.

Section 6.08.030. <u>Construction Standards</u>. The District's construction standards set forth in District Operations Code Chapter 6.01 establishes construction standards designed to maintain the integrity of the system. The sewer notes set forth in the District's standard plans and specifications for the construction of sanitary sewers provides additional standards.

Section 6.08.040. <u>Installation. Testing and Inspection</u>. The District requires that all new or rehabilitated sewer installations be tested and inspected pursuant to the provisions of Title 6 of the District Operations Code and a permit is required for such connections.

Section 6.08.050. Grease. The District has adopted its fats, oils and grease ordinance set forth at Chapter 6.07 of this Code.

Section 6.08.060. <u>Pretreatment.</u> The District has recognized the Orange County Sanitation District as the publicly operated treatment works responsible for pretreatment compliance and has incorporated such pretreatment requirements set forth in 40 C.F.R 403.5 in both its SSMP and in its standard sewer permit. (*Ord. 46, 2004*)

Chapter 6.09 - Damage to District Property

Section 6.09.010. <u>Damage to District Property</u>. No person shall damage District property, including, but not limited to, sewer lines and appurtenances.

Section 6.09.020. <u>Liability for Damage</u>. Every person who damages District property by intentional or negligent act shall be liable to the District for the costs thereof. "Damage" shall include, but not be limited to, dumping debris into the District's sewer system and the costs to remove said debris and to restore District's system. Such liability shall also include, but not be limited to, liability for failure to maintain property or by actions taken which cause a sewer spill or sewer backup or other occurrence that requires a District response. Responsible persons shall be liable for response costs related to such damage, whether by District personnel or by District's independent contractors.

Section 6.09.030. <u>Liability for Abatement/Repair Costs</u>. Persons responsible for causing damage or conditions requiring abatement or repair costs shall be liable to the District for the full costs thereof.

Section 6.09.040. Penalty. It shall be unlawful for any person to intentionally or negligently damage District property or dump unauthorized materials into District's sewage system. (Ord. 83, 2011)

Chapter 6.10 - Cost Recovery

Section 6.10.010. Purpose. This Chapter shall identify the authority and provide a reference for cost recovery when abatement and enforcement efforts are required to abate violations or to correct violations pertaining to the sewer system, including the sewer laterals that connect to District's system. The intent of this chapter is to provide the mechanism for the District to recover costs when abatement is required for various conditions that constitute violations of this code, including, but not limited to, conditions arising from fats, oils, grease, roots or other conditions of sewer laterals or the District's lines caused by a property owner or occupier or other person who causes a condition that needs to be abated or corrected. The authority for the cost recovery is provided in Health and Safety Code Section 6523.3, which provides that the District may correct any violation of an ordinance of the District and providing further that the cost of such correction shall be added to the sewer service charge of the person violating the ordinance or the tenant or owner of the property upon which the violation occurred. (Ord. 89, 2012)

Section 6.10.020. <u>Abatement</u>. Whenever a condition exists that is in violation of this code or any applicable State Waste Discharge Order, the District may determine to abate the conditions if necessary, for the immediate preservation of the health, safety or welfare of the public. (*Ord. 89, 2012*)

Section 6.10.025. Access to District Facilities on Private Property. Health and Safety Code Section 6523.2 provides that in order to effectuate its powers, a sanitary district has the right to enter upon private property for the purpose of inspection and maintenance of sanitary and waste disposal facilities. Every property owner has a duty to allow authorized District personnel to access District's sewer facilities on their property at reasonable times so that District might inspect, maintain or repair its facilities. District sewer facilities, including sewer lines and appurtenances, are sometimes located on private property upon which the District has a right of access to inspect, maintain, and repair. In situations in which those sewer facilities are not fenced or otherwise blocked, the District can obtain access without judicial process. In other situations, fences or other obstructions may block access to District facilities, requiring the District to obtain a court order for inspection, maintenance or repair if the property owner does not provide consent to enter. In cases in which such access is blocked, and a property owner or other person in charge of the property refuses to grant access, the District may need to obtain a warrant to enter. In those situations, the cost of such legal process shall be considered a lawful charge against the property, and collection may be obtained by using the procedure set forth in 6.10.060. (Ord. 120, 2018)

Section 6.10.030. Notice and Due Process. The responsible party shall be provided with appropriate due process before abatement occurs, if possible. Such due process shall be commensurate with the emergency condition necessitating abatement. Whenever possible, that due process shall include attempts to contact the responsible party of the conditions that exist and provide an opportunity to review those conditions before the same are abated if consistent with the immediate public health, welfare and safety concerns. If possible and consistent with the public health, safety and welfare, the responsible party shall be given an opportunity to abate the property using their own forces. (Ord. 89, 2012)

Section 6.10.040. Abatement by District Forces. Should District not be able to contact the responsible party or should District's General Manager or District Engineer determine that the situation must be abated immediately and without allowing the responsible party to abate the condition using their own forces, the District shall attempt to provide the responsible party with an opportunity to witness the abatement by District staff, which may include District contractors. District staff shall also provide photographs and other evidence of the abatement if they exist to the responsible party thereafter. (Ord. 89, 2012)

Section 6.10.050. <u>Hearing on The Abatement</u>. If District determines to abate the property using District forces, which includes District contractors, it shall provide the responsible party with a copy of the report of the incident and the abatement efforts, including photographs, video and other memorialization as may exist of the conditions and abatement efforts, including costs by hour and rate.

The responsible party shall be entitled to a hearing, which shall be an informal opportunity to present evidence contesting his responsibility, the fact that the conditions constituted a threat to the public health, safety or welfare, and the costs of the abatement. (Ord. 89, 2012)

Section 6.10.060. Collection of The Abatement Charges. If the District Board confirms the charges, District staff shall collect those charges by separate invoice sent directly to the property owner. If said charges are not paid within 30 days, District may add said charges on the regular tax roll in accordance with the authority provided in Government Code Section 6523.3. That section provides that the costs of correction may be added to the sewer charges otherwise due and payable, and the District shall have such remedies for collection as are available for those charges. (Ord. 89, 2012)

Chapter 6.11 – Interference with the District's Sewer Lines, Easements, and Appurtenances Prohibited

Section 6.11.010. <u>Duty Not to Interfere with District Easements and Lines</u>. Property owners in which or over which the District has a sewer easement shall have a duty to maintain the area above and around the sewer easement, and at least five feed from the centerline of the sewer pipe, from any obstruction that is likely to intrude into the pipe or prevent the District from accessing its lines for repair or maintenance. Such obstructions shall include trees and roots from all invasive vegetation which may intrude

into the sewer line. Obstructions shall further include any fence or other obstruction over a sewer easement so that access for repair or maintenance is impeded, unless special written permission has been granted for such obstruction.

Section 6.11.020. <u>Abatement.</u> Provided District can prove that an owner, or person permitted by the owner, caused or allowed, by failure to take effective maintenance measures or by building or construction structures on or near the District's sewer easement, so as to make repair or maintenance of the sewer line or other facilities more difficult, said owner or other responsible person shall be liable to the District for the increased costs of the repair or maintenance. Said abatement costs shall include but not be limited to the costs of removal of the obstruction. District shall first provide the owner or other responsible person with notice of the obstruction and an opportunity to be heard. Except in urgent situations, at least five days' notice shall be given and an opportunity to respond. The charges for the abatement may be collected on the tax roll. The District shall have no obligation to replace any obstruction that interfered with District's easement.

Section 6.11.030. <u>Termination of Service.</u> After providing the owner or other responsible person with notice pursuant to Health and Safety Code Section 6523.2, the District may terminate the service of any property found to be violating the duties set forth in this Chapter. (*Ord. 128, 2019*)

Title 7

Chapter 7.01 - Trash Regulations

Section 7.01.010. <u>Purpose</u>. The purpose of this Ordinance is to implement the District's authority to provide for the collection of trash, garbage, rubbish and other waste in the waste stream, and to recover and provide for the recapture and recycling of such parts of the waste stream. A further purpose is to provide for the public health and welfare and sanitary streets by requiring the waste containers be stored on the property out of view except for reasonable periods of time for collection. (*Ord. 27, 1997*)

Section 7.01.015. <u>District's Authority</u>. The Health and Safety Code has given sanitary districts the authority to collect all waste and garbage within the District. The District has determined to only collect residential trash at this time but reserves unto itself the right to regulate other trash collection in the future. (*Ord. 27, 1997*)

Section 7.01.020. <u>Exclusive Franchise</u>. The District has awarded an exclusive franchise for the collection of all residential trash within its boundaries. (*Ord. 27, 1997*)

Section 7.01.025. Residential Limitations. District's trash collection services are limited to residential service. Residential units will be served notwithstanding the zone that said property is located in as long as the property is used for residential purposes and utilizes curbside service. For purposes of this Chapter, "curbside" shall mean trash collection service in which individual cans or containers are placed outside but adjacent to a residence for collection. It includes service when no actual "curb" exists and includes situations in which the can or container is placed

in an alley near the residence. It includes private developments that have gated access. It does not include bin service in which residents carry their trash or other solid waste to communal bins or dumpsters used by other residents at a common location. (Ord. 113, 2016)

Section 7.01.030. Rubbish Removal - Scavenging Prohibited. The District and its duly authorized agents or any contractor with whom the District may at any time enter into a contract or franchise therefor, and the agents, servants, and employees of said contractor while any said contract or franchise is in force shall have the exclusive right to gather, collect and remove all waste material from all residential premises served by the District and no other persons than those above shall gather, collect, and remove any trash or waste material or convey or transport any trash or waste material in or along or over any public street, alley, or highway in the District, or take any waste material from any receptacle in which the same has been placed for collection or removal or interfere with or disturb any such receptacle or remove any such receptacle from any location where same is place by the owner thereof; provided, however, that nothing in this section shall be deemed to prohibit the occupant of any dwelling house from himself removing any trash or waste material accumulated on the premises occupied by him as a dwelling house and disposing of the same in a lawful manner, or to prohibit any person from gathering, collecting and removing from the premises occupied by him any trash or waste material or other objects of debris considered to be large items.

Once trash or waste material has been placed in a container and placed curbside for collection, no person shall scavenge or remove any item from said container except for the District's contractor/franchisee. (Ord. 27, 1997)

Section 7.01.040. Containers.

- (a) Containers used for residential collection shall be those provided by the District through its franchisee. Said containers shall be standardized to allow for fully automated collection as determined by the District. Except as hereinafter provided, no person may use and other types of containers after the standardized containers are provided.
- (b) The standardized containers for existing service shall be two mixed waste containers and one organic container.
- (c) The combined weight of the container and contents for collection shall not exceed 150 pounds.
- (d) All trash, recycling material, and organics (as defined in this Code along with exclusions) must be placed inside the containers so that the lid can shut to keep out flies and other pests. Trimmings must be cut so that they fit completely within the container and so that the container lid will shut. Residents shall obtain additional containers from the District as needed to comply with this requirement. Trash, recycling material and organics should not be jammed in so that it prevents emptying of the container.

Section 7.01.050. <u>Container Ownership/Care.</u> The containers are owned by the District's franchise. It is unlawful to damage or deface the containers. It is unlawful to mark on the containers. Each container has a registration number on it and is assigned to a residence. Graffiti, vandalism or other damage to the containers should be reported to the District immediately. *(Ord. 57, 2007)*

Section 7.01.054. Existing Development. Residents may request additional containers to ensure all trash, recycling material, and organics fit inside the containers with the lids closed. Residents shall pay actual cost per container for all additional containers requested, except as provided below:

- (a) No charge shall be imposed if new residents move to a residence where the containers have been removed.
 - (b) No charge shall be imposed for exchanges of containers.
- (c) No charge shall be imposed if the occupants of the residence demonstrate a hardship based on disability or economic factors and have submitted a confidential declaration providing those facts.
- (d) No charge shall be imposed if a resident with only one mixed waste container and one organics material container requests one additional mixed waste and/or organics container.

The containers shall remain the property of the franchisee. (Ord. 49, 2005; Ord. 100, 2014)

Section 7.01.060. <u>Placement of Containers.</u> Containers shall be placed at the curb or in the alley for collection no earlier than 5:00 p.m. on the evening before the scheduled collection day. Generally, all containers shall be placed in the street with the wheels near the curb. Containers shall be placed so as to be accessible for collection and arranged in a manner so as to facilitate loading on the collection truck. Except where practical difficulties exist, all containers shall be placed so as to not create drainage problems with the gutters. Placement of containers is also subject to compliance with City or County ordinances. In areas in which trash/recycling and organics service is provided via a public alley, containers may be placed in the alley provided doing so does not create an obstruction to the passage of vehicles. (Ord. 37, 2001; Ord. 49, 2005; Ord. 93, 2012; Ord. 100, 2014)

Section 7.01.070 Permitted Trash/Prohibited Materials.

- (a) The following are permitted to be placed in the containers for collection:
- 1. Trash and recycling material, as described in Section 2.01.010 A, shall be placed in containers designated as "mixed waste" containers.

- 2. Organics, as described in Section 2.01.010 Z, shall be placed in the designated container provided as the "organics" container. (*Ord. 100, 2014*)
- (b) The following are prohibited from being placed in the containers for collection:
- 1. Hazardous materials including paint, motor oil, fertilizer, batteries, and pesticides.
 - Liquid waste.
 - 3. Medical waste including syringes.
 - 4. Construction debris, sod, concrete, rocks, dirt, manure or lumber.
- 5. "E-Waste" to include television sets and computer monitors and similar devices which contain cathodic ray tubes with lead or other harmful matter.
- (c) As requested by resident(s) through the Large Item Collection Program, up to ten items three times a year or a maximum of thirty items annually, will be collected per address. These items would include furniture, appliances and other such large items. Through the Household Hazardous Waste (HHW) Collection Program, residents may request up to three (3) HHW pickups per year. Each HHW pickup has a maximum limit of 15 gallons or 125 lbs. of HHW. HHW items would include electronic waste, cleaning products, sharps, universal waste and other such HHW items. Other special programs may cover Christmas trees, used oil, used syringes and. (Ord. 37, 2001)
- **Section 7.01.080.** Removal of Trash Containers. (a) Residential containers placed in the street shall be removed from the curb by midnight the day of collection and shall be stored in the rear or side yard of the property so as to be out of view from the street. Containers placed in the alley for collection shall be removed from the alley by midnight the day of collection and shall be stored so as to be out of the public alley, completely on private property, and out of view from the public street. (*Ord. 100, 2014*)
- (b) A hardship exception or variance may be obtained by any person whose property is uniquely situated to not allow container removal from the public alley or who has a personal hardship not allowing such storage. A hardship waiver form must be completed explaining the reason(s) for a hardship. Such a hardship exception or variance shall be approved in a letter or other memorialization from the General Manager or designee. Such memorialization shall list the reasons and may be limited in time. (*Ord.* 27, 1997) (*Ord.* 93, 2012)
- **Section 7.01.090** <u>Unauthorized Use of Containers.</u> It shall be unlawful for any person to deposit solid waste in a container owned or legally possessed by another person in any place, public or private, without the written permission of the owner or legal possessor of the container.

Chapter 7.02 - Annual Trash Charges

Section 7.02.010. <u>Annual Charges</u>. Pursuant to an ordinance heretofore adopted, the Board has adopted the procedure set forth in Health and Safety Code Section 5473 for

the collection of solid waste charges on the tax roll on an annual basis along with the general taxes collected by the tax collector. (Ord. 30, 1999)

Section 7.02.020. <u>Substantive Requirements for Charges</u>. Before said charges are confirmed, the Board shall ensure that the charges meet the substantive requirements imposed on such charges by California Constitution, Article XIIID:

- 1. Revenues derived from the fee or charge have not exceeded the funds required to provide the property related service.
- 2. Revenue from the fee or charge is not being used for any purpose other than that for which the fee or charge is imposed.
- 3. The amount of a fee or charge imposed upon any parcel or person as an incident of property ownership does not exceed the proportional cost of the service attributable to the parcel.
- 4. The fee or charge is not imposed for service unless the service is actually used by, or immediately available to, the owner of the property in question.
- 5. No fee or charge is being imposed for general governmental services such as police, fire, ambulance, or libraries, where the service is available to the public in substantially the same manner as it is to property owners. (Ord. 30, 1999)

Section 7.02.030. <u>Procedural Requirements</u>. Pursuant to California Constitution Article XIIID, before said charges are confirmed for a new or increased charge, a public hearing shall be held in which a protest hearing is conducted. Notice of such hearing shall be mailed to all owners of record that are the subject of the charge, and the hearing shall also be published in accordance with law. If a majority protest is received, that charge shall not be imposed. (*Ord. 30, 1999*)

Section 7.02.040. Filing of Report with Auditor. After the charges have been confirmed, the clerk shall file a copy of the report with the County in the manner required by Health and Safety Code Section 5473.4. (Ord. 30, 1999)

Chapter 7.03 – Short-lived Climate Pollutant Reduction

Section 7.03.010. Residential organic waste generators. Residential organic waste generators shall comply with the following requirements:

(a) Residents shall participate in the District's Organic Waste collection program for all Organic Waste generated as described in this chapter. The District shall have the right to review the number and size of residential containers to evaluate adequacy of capacity provided for each type of collection service for proper separation of materials and containment of materials; and, each residential household shall adjust its service level for its collection services as requested by the District.

(b) Residents shall participate in the District's Organic Waste collection program by placing designated materials in designated containers and shall not place Prohibited Container Contaminants in collection containers.

Section 7.03.020. Requirement for Haulers

- (a) The franchise hauler providing residential Organic Waste collection services within the District's boundaries shall meet the following requirements and standards as a condition of approval of a contract, agreement, or other authorization with the District to collect Organic Waste:
 - 1. Through written notice to the District annually on or before March 1st identify the facilities to which they will transport Organic Waste including facilities for Source Separated Recyclable Materials, Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste, and Mixed Waste.
 - 2. Transport Source Separated Recyclable Materials, Source Separated Green Container Organic Waste, and Mixed Waste to a facility, operation, activity, or property that recovers Organic Waste as defined in 14 CCR, Division 7, Chapter 12, Article 2.
 - 3. Obtain approval from the District to haul Organic Waste, unless it is transporting Source Separated Organic Waste to a Community Composting site or lawfully transporting C&D in a manner that complies with 14 CCR Section 18989.1.
- (b) The franchise hauler authorized to collect Organic Waste shall comply with education, equipment, signage, container labeling, container color, contamination monitoring, reporting, and other requirements contained within its franchise agreement."

Section 7.03.030. Requirement for Facility Operators. Owners of facilities, operations, and activities that recover Organic Waste, including, but not limited to, Compost facilities, in-vessel digestion facilities, and publicly-owned treatment works shall, upon District request, provide information regarding available and potential new or expanded capacity at their facilities, operations, and activities, including information about throughput and permitted capacity necessary for planning purposes.

Section 7.03.040. <u>Inspections and Investigations</u>

(a) District representatives and/or its designated entity are authorized to conduct inspections and investigations, at random or otherwise, of any collection container placed curbside for collection, collection vehicle loads, or transfer, processing, or disposal facility for materials collected from residents participating in the Organic Waste collection program or Source Separated materials to confirm compliance with this chapter by Organic Waste Generators, property owners, and haulers subject to applicable laws. This Section itself does not allow District staff or the District's designated officials to enter the interior of a private residential property or other areas within the "curtilage" for inspection unless otherwise authorized to do so.

- (b) Residents shall provide or arrange for access during all Inspections (with the exception of residential property interiors and areas within the curtilage) and shall cooperate with the District representative or its designated entity/Designee during such Inspections and investigations. Such Inspections and investigations may include confirmation of proper placement of materials in containers or any other requirement of this ordinance described herein. Failure to provide or arrange for access is a violation of this ordinance and may result in penalties provided in Section 1.06.070 of this code.
- (c) Any records obtained by the District during its inspections shall be subject to the requirements and applicable disclosure exemptions of the Public Records Act as set forth in Government Code Section 7920.000 et seq.
- (d) District representatives, its designated entity, and/or Designee are authorized to conduct any inspections, or other investigations as reasonably necessary to further the goals of this chapter, subject to applicable laws. If the District representative, its designated entity, and/or Designee determines that an Organic Waste Generator, hauler, or other entity is not in compliance with this chapter, the noncompliance or violation will be documented and enforced in accordance to Section 7.03.050 of this chapter.
- (e) The District shall receive written complaints from persons regarding person(s), household(s) and/or residential property owner(s) that may be potentially non-compliant with SB 1383 Regulations, including receipt of anonymous complaints."

Section 7.03.050. Enforcement

(a) Violation of any provision of this chapter shall be subject to receiving Notice of Violations and administrative fines.

(b) Responsible Entity for Enforcement

(1) Enforcement pursuant to this chapter may be undertaken by the District or their designated entity, or combination thereof.

(c) Process for Enforcement

- (1) The District will monitor compliance with this chapter by random inspections and through Compliance Reviews, Route Reviews, investigation of complaints, and Inspections.
- (2) The District may issue an official notification to notify residents of their obligations under this chapter.
- (3) The District will issue a Notice of Violation to any resident and/or residential property owner found to have Prohibited Container Contaminants in a container. Such notice will be provided via a cart tag or other communication immediately upon identification of the Prohibited Container Contaminants.
- (4) The Notice of Violation will require compliance within 60 days of issuance of the notice for conditions not easily correctable.

(5) Absent compliance by violators within the deadline set forth in the Notice of Violation, the District shall enforce this chapter by issuing administrative citations as described in Chapter 1.06 of the Operations Code.

Section 7.03.060. <u>Compliance Deadline Extension.</u> The District may extend the compliance deadlines set forth in a Notice of Violation issued if it finds that there are extenuating circumstances beyond the control of the violator that make compliance within the deadlines impracticable, including the following:

- (a) Acts of God such as earthquakes, wildfires, flooding, and other emergencies or natural disasters;
- (b) Delays in obtaining discretionary approvals or other government agency approvals; or,
- (c) Deficiencies in Organic Waste recycling infrastructure or if the District is under a corrective action plan with CalRecycle pursuant to 14 CCR Section 18996.2 due to those deficiencies."

Section 7.03.070. <u>Education.</u> The District will be responsible for conducting public outreach regarding the Short-lived Climate Pollutant Reduction Act. Inspections, Route Reviews or waste evaluations, and Compliance Reviews, will be conducted to determine compliance with the Act., and if the District determines that an organic waste generator, hauler, or other entity is not in compliance, it shall provide educational materials to the entity describing its obligations under this chapter."

Title 8

Chapter 8.01 - Recycling

Section 8.01.010. <u>Diversion Requirements.</u> Pursuant to the State's Integrated Waste Management Act (Public Resources Code Section 41780 et seq.) each city must divert and reduce the volume of solid waste generated within a city. (Ord. 30, 1999)

Section 8.01.020. Recycling. The District is committed to recycling and may implement a variety of programs to encourage and promote recycling and to assist in reducing the waste stream. (Ord. 30, 1999) (Ord. 30, 1999; Ord. 100, 2014)

Section 8.01.030. **Definitions**. Definitions shall be as provided in Section 2.01.010 of this Code.

Section 8.01.040. Permitted Recycling Materials. (a) The following are permitted to be placed in the mixed waste containers for collection:

- A. Glass of all colors
- B. Aluminum and metal cans, non-ferrous metal, tin
- C. Cardboard

- D. Newspapers, magazines and mixed paper
- E. Plastics that include the following types:
 - 1. Polyethylene Terephthalate PET (marked with #1)
 - 2. High Density Polyethylene HDPE (marked with #2)
 - 3. Polyvinyl Chloride PVP (marked with #3)
 - 4. Low Density Polyethylene LDPE (marked with #4)
 - 5. Polypropylene PP (marked with #5)
 - 6. Polystyrene PS (marked with #6)
 - 7. Other (marked with #7)

Section 8.01.050. <u>Permitted Organics Material</u>. Only the following are permitted to be placed in the organics container for collection:

- A. Lawn clippings
- B. Branches
- C. Leaves and flowers
- D. Shrubs, bushes, and weeds
- E. Fruits and vegetables
- F. Meat, poultry, and seafood
- G. Eggshells
- H. Rice
- I. Beans
- J. Pasta
- K. Frozen/refrigerated food
- L. Tea bags and coffee grounds
- M. Fats, oil and grease related to cooking and other organic liquids
- N. Compostable plastic bags

Section 8.01.060. <u>Processing Recycling Materials</u>. District's franchisee agrees that in addition to meeting the fifty percent (50%) reduction level currently mandated by the State of California, it will use its commercially reasonable efforts in conjunction with the District's efforts to achieve the District goal of diverting at least seventy-five percent (75%) of the District's waste stream. District's franchisee will provide documentation on the amounts so diverted.

Section 8.01.070. Recycling Revenue. District franchisee shall make available to District its annual audit performed by an independent Certified Public Accountant showing all revenue derived from recycling, composting, or the generation of renewable natural gas or fuel from District. Such statement shall include internal trail reports supporting those financial statements. Such financial statements shall not become public record by such disclosure and said audit must be made available for viewing by District officials at franchisee's facility. (Ord. 100, 2014, Ord. 122, 2018)

Title 9

Chapter 9.01 – Sewer and Trash Charge Exemptions and Reductions

Section 9.01.010. <u>Sewer Exemptions Established</u>. The District has established that the following types of property shall be entitled to an exemption from assessment for sewer service charges:

- (a) Undeveloped or vacant parcels.
- (b) Developed parcels that do not require sewer service, such as parks or parking lots.
- (c) Parcels currently being lawfully served by septic tank or cesspool. (Reso. 94-543, 1994)

Section 9.01.020. <u>Sewer Assessment Reductions</u>. The Board has determined that a reduction in assessment may be appropriate for commercial, industrial and other property that is assessed based on floor area in the following situations:

- (a) If the floor area is only used for storage or warehouse space, and
- (b) The floor area assessed has no floor drains or connections to District's facilities.

It shall be the applicant's burden to establish that such an assessment reduction is appropriate. (Reso. 94-543, 1994)

Section 9.01.030. <u>Trash Collection Exemptions</u>. The following types of property qualify for an exemption from the trash collection assessment:

- (a) Property that has been served by a private hauler provided that the property has never been served by the District's franchise contract hauler.
 - (b) Undeveloped property.
- (c) Parcels developed in such a way that trash is not produced nor collected such as parking lots and parking garages.
- (d) Parcels that are developed and used in such a manner that the required frequency of collection exceeds that provided by the District's franchise hauler, such as apartments and common area developments.
 - (e) Any area served or to be served by the City of Newport Beach.
 - (f) Property developed in such a manner as to preclude curbside service.
- (g) Property that is served by substandard streets so that a standard waste hauler truck cannot have ingress or egress.

- (h) Projects using trash bin service with no provision for individual trash container pick up.
- (i) An appropriate organization represents that the District cannot provide trash collection service and provides the District with a contract for outside service and provides District with assurances that such outside service will be maintained.
- (j) Other circumstances that the Board may determine appropriate for granting an exemption based on the fact that the property should not be charged for service.

Any exemption granted pursuant hereto may be revoked if the Board determines that the facts have changed or were not as represented. Exemptions run with the land. (Reso. 94-547, 1994)

Chapter 9.02 – Sewer and Trash Refunds

Section 9.02.010. <u>Assessment Errors</u>. The Board is aware that despite best efforts to assess property fairly and accurately, that errors can occur that would justify providing a refund for amounts that the Board might determine were improperly assessed. (Ord. 30, 1999)

Section 9.02.020. <u>Gift of Public Funds</u>. The Board also is aware that it is constitutionally prohibited from making a gift of public funds, which is an amount not legally owed. (Ord. 30, 1999)

Section 9.02.030. <u>Statute of Limitations</u>. California law has both statutes of limitation and claim filing requirements that must be met before a refund may be made. (*Ord. 30, 1999*)

Section 9.02.040. Refund Policy. In light of the above, the Board does hereby establish the following as its refund policy for sewer and trash assessments:

- (a) For all claims for refunds for sewer or trash service for which a special rule (set forth below) does not apply, refund procedures and time limitations will be governed by the Tort Claims Act (Government Code Section 900 et seq.) including, but not limited to, the requirements that the claimant present a written request for a refund from the Board within one year of the accrual of the cause of action. Refunds will be allowed if the claimant's request satisfies the procedures of the Tort Claims Act and if the claimant establishes that his or her claim is meritorious.
- (b) For amounts "paid under protest", refunds may be allowed for up to four years provided that the procedures of the Health and Safety Code and Revenue and taxation Code were followed. (See Health and Safety Code Section 5472; Revenue and Taxation Code Sections 5097 and 5140 et seq.)
- (c) Persons who have paid sewer service fees but who have received no service and have not been connected to the District's system shall be eligible for a refund depending

on when the fees were collected as follows:

- (1) If the fees were collected before January 1, 1992, there is no statute of limitations and the claimant may submit a claim for such amount that he can prove that he paid and for which he received no service.
- (2) If the fees were paid after January 1, 1992, a claim must have been filed within 180 days of the date of the payment.
- (3) Subsections (a) and (b) above only apply to fees collected and do not apply to sewer assessments. (See Government Code Section 53082.) (Reso. 96-584, 1996) (Ord. 44, 2004)

Title 10

Chapter 10.01 - Risk Management

Section 10.01.010. <u>SDRMA</u>. The District is a member of the Special District Risk Management Authority (SDRMA) which provides the District with insurance protection for property loss, general liability and employee's errors and omissions, boiler and machinery and public officials bond. (*Policy Statement 2/10/1989*) (*Reso. 94-539, 1994*)

Section 10.01.020. <u>Safety Measures</u>. The Board has determined that prudent planning and risk management require the adoption of a safety manual in compliance with the Special District Risk Management Authority as well as the California Department of Occupational Safety and Health current standards. (*Reso. 94-539, 1994*) (*Ord. 94, 2012*)

Section 10.01.030. <u>Safety/Loss Control Committee</u>. A safety/loss control committee, as per the District's safety manual, shall be formed consisting of the appropriate supervisory personnel and staff members to conduct investigations when an industrial incident/injury has occurred to determine the primary and contributing causes within seven working days of the initial report. This information is documented and analyzed to assist in obtaining corrective actions to prevent similar accidents from occurring in the future. The committee shall meet when an industrial incident/injury has occurred. (*Reso. 94-539, 1994*) (*Ord. 94, 2012*)

Section 10.01.040. <u>Standards Adopted.</u> The following standards are adopted by the Board, as they are presently published and as they may from time to time be amended, and the same shall be incorporated into the District's standard construction specifications:

- (1) The Work Area Traffic Control Handbook (WATCH).
- (2) <u>The Manual of Warning Signs, Lights and Devices for Use in Performance of Work Upon Highways.</u>
- (3) State Labor Code Sections 6704, 6706 and 6707.

- (4) The Construction Safety Orders (CAL/OSHA).
- (5) The General Industry Safety Orders (CAL/OSHA).
- (6) <u>Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction</u> (The Green Book). (Policy Statement 2/10/1989) (Reso. 94-539, 1994)

Section 10.01.050. <u>Safety Manual Adopted</u>. The safety manual prepared by the SDRMA, as the same may be amended from time to time, is adopted as the District's Safety Manual. (*Reso. 94-539, 1994; Reso. 94-546, 1994*)

Section 10.01.060. <u>Claims Manual</u>. The District being subject to the California Tort Claims Act, and the District being a member of the SDRMA has adopted the SDRMA Claims Manual as its procedures for processing claims against the District. (*Reso. 94-546, 1994*)

Section 10.01.070. <u>Indemnification</u>. The District shall indemnify and defend Directors, officers and employees from any claim, demand or liability provided that the conditions of Government Code Section 825 are satisfied. (Ord. 30, 1999)

Chapter 10.03 - Emergencies

Section 10.03.010. <u>Purpose</u>. The purpose of this chapter is to provide for the preparation and carrying out of plans for the protection of persons and property within the District in the event of the emergency or disaster conditions hereafter referred to; the direction of the disaster organization; and the coordination of the disaster functions of the District with the City, County, OCSD and with all other public agencies, corporations, organizations and affected private persons.

Section 10.03.020. <u>Definitions</u>. For the purpose of this chapter, certain words and terms are defined as follows:

- (a) "City" means the City of Costa Mesa or the City of Newport Beach;
- (b) "County" means the County of Orange;
- (c) "District" means the Costa Mesa Sanitary District;
- (d) "OCSD" means the Orange County Sanitation District;
- (e) "State of emergency" means the duly proclaimed existence of conditions of disaster or of extreme peril to the safety of persons and property within the State caused by such conditions as air pollution, fire, flood, storm, epidemic, riot, earthquake or other conditions;
- (f) "Local emergency" means the existence of conditions of disaster or of extreme peril to the safety of persons and property within the territorial limits of a district, city,

county or district and city or district and city and county, caused by such conditions as air pollution, fire, flood, storm, epidemic, riot, earthquake or other conditions.

(g) Other terms used herein shall have meanings as used in the California Emergency Services Act.

Section 10.03.030. Emergency Operations Plan (EOP). The District shall prepare, adopt, implement and revise when necessary an Emergency Operations Plan that establishes the emergency organization, assigns tasks, specifies policies, and general procedures, and provides for coordination of planning efforts of the various agencies and service elements utilizing the Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) and meeting the requirements established by the National Incident Management System (NIMS). The objective of this plan is to incorporate and coordinate all agencies and personnel within the district into an efficient organization capable of responding to emergencies affecting the sanitary sewer system.

Section 10.03.040. Emergency Operation Center (EOC) - Activation. The District's EOC shall be activated and shall function as an emergency respondent organization, only:

- (a) Upon the declaration by the Governor of the state, or of persons authorized to act in his stead, of a "state of emergency" affecting and including the District;
- (b) Upon the declaration of a "local emergency" by the Board of Supervisors of the County, or by persons authorized to act in its stead, affecting and including the District; or
- (c) Upon the declaration of a "local emergency" by the City Council of a City within the District's boundaries, or by persons herein authorized to act in its stead.
- (d) Upon the declaration of the District General Manager that additional resources are needed for a single incident occurring within the District.

Section 10.03.050. Emergency Operating Centers. Unless emergencies render the same impossible or unduly hazardous to safety, two emergency operating centers shall normally be maintained within the District; one of these at Headquarters (290 Paularino Avenue), and the other at the Yard (174 W. Wilson Street).

Section 10.03.060. <u>Director of Emergency Services</u>. The General Manager of the District shall be the director of emergency services. In the General Manager's absence or inability to act the General Manager shall automatically be succeeded as director of emergency services by the officials and persons named for this purpose, and in the order specified, in the EOP of the District.

Section 10.03.070. <u>Powers of Succession</u>. Each person who shall succeed to each position or office as provided herein, shall succeed to all the powers and duties of the office succeeded to immediately upon such succession.

Section 10.03.080. <u>Line of Succession for Board of Directors</u>. The line of succession for the position of President during a state of emergency, local emergency or other condition of disaster, unless otherwise ordered by the Board of Directors, shall be Vice President followed by the Secretary and then the remaining Board of Directors in the order of their seniority.

Section 10.03.090. <u>Brown Act.</u> The Brown Act provides that the usual rules with respect to noticing meetings are altered when an emergency occurs. For purposes of the Brown Act, Government Code, Section 54956.5 provides that in cases:

- (a) involving a work stoppage, crippling activity or activity that severely impairs the public health and safety,
- (b) of dire emergency as a crippling disaster, mass destruction, or threatened terrorist act that poses peril so that giving of notice may endanger the public health or safety, or
- (c) as determined by a majority of the Board, the Board shall provide such notice as may be required by the Brown Act, which may require one-hour notice as provided in Government Code Section 54956.5((b)(2).

Section 10.03.100. <u>County Interaction.</u> The District is signatory to the Operational Area Agreement of the County of Orange and Political Subdivisions. Such agreement coordinates the District resources and needs with the County's and other local government entities' and provides management in times of emergency through a Signatory Council and an Executive Board. The standing subcommittee is the Orange County Emergency Management Organization (OCEMO). The District shall stay involved in OCEMO and maintain contact and other resource information. District's participation shall be pursuant to the Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) and its national counterpart (NIMS). (Ord. 64, 2007)